Heparin versus placebo for acute coronary syndromes (Review)

Magee K, Campbell SG, Moher D, Rowe BH



This is a reprint of a Cochrane review, prepared and maintained by The Cochrane Collaboration and published in *The Cochrane Library* 2010, Issue 9

http://www.thecochranelibrary.com



TABLE OF CONTENTS

| HEADER | 1 |
|--|----|
| ABSTRACT | 1 |
| PLAIN LANGUAGE SUMMARY | 2 |
| BACKGROUND | 2 |
| OBJECTIVES | 3 |
| METHODS | 3 |
| RESULTS | 4 |
| DISCUSSION | 7 |
| Figure 1 | 8 |
| AUTHORS' CONCLUSIONS | 9 |
| ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS | 9 |
| REFERENCES | 9 |
| CHARACTERISTICS OF STUDIES | 13 |
| DATA AND ANALYSES | 21 |
| Analysis 1.1. Comparison 1 Incidence of death over all time periods, Outcome 1 Heparin + ASA vs ASA | 23 |
| Analysis 2.1. Comparison 2 Incidence of MI over all time periods, Outcome 1 Heparin + ASA vs ASA | 24 |
| Analysis 3.1. Comparison 3 Incidence of recurrent angina over all time periods, Outcome 1 Heparin + ASA vs ASA. | 25 |
| Analysis 4.1. Comparison 4 Incidence of revascularization procedures over all time periods, Outcome 1 Heparin + ASA vs | |
| ASA | 26 |
| Analysis 5.1. Comparison 5 Incidence of multiple end points (death or myocardial infarction) over all time periods, | |
| Outcome 1 Heparin + ASA vs ASA | 27 |
| Analysis 6.1. Comparison 6 Incidence of major bleeds over all time periods, Outcome 1 Heparin + ASA vs ASA | 28 |
| Analysis 7.1. Comparison 7 Incidence of minor bleeds over all time periods, Outcome 1 Heparin + ASA vs ASA | 29 |
| Analysis 8.1. Comparison 8 Incidence of thrombocytopenia over all time periods, Outcome 1 Heparin + ASA vs ASA. | 30 |
| FEEDBACK | 30 |
| WHAT'S NEW | 32 |
| HISTORY | 33 |
| CONTRIBUTIONS OF AUTHORS | 33 |
| DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST | 33 |
| SOURCES OF SUPPORT | 33 |
| INDEX TERMS | 34 |

[Intervention Review]

Heparin versus placebo for acute coronary syndromes

Kirk Magee¹, Samuel G Campbell¹, David Moher², Brian H Rowe³

¹Department of Emergency Medicine, Dalhousie University, Halifax, Canada. ²Ottawa Hospital Research Institute, Ottawa, Canada. ³Department of Emergency Medicine, University of Alberta, Edmonton, Canada

Contact address: Kirk Magee, Department of Emergency Medicine, Dalhousie University, Queen Elizabeth II Health Sciences Centre, Halifax Infirmary, 1796 Summer Street, Halifax, Nova Scotia, B3H 3A7, Canada. kmagee@dal.ca. kmagee@hfx.eastlink.ca.

Editorial group: Cochrane Heart Group.

Publication status and date: Edited (no change to conclusions), comment added to review, published in Issue 9, 2010. **Review content assessed as up-to-date:** 27 January 2008.

Citation: Magee K, Campbell SG, Moher D, Rowe BH. Heparin versus placebo for acute coronary syndromes. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2008, Issue 2. Art. No.: CD003462. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD003462.pub2.

Copyright © 2010 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

ABSTRACT

Background

Acute coronary syndromes (ACS) represent a spectrum of disease including unstable angina (UA) and non-ST segment myocardial infarction (NSTEMI). Despite treatment with aspirin, beta-blockers and nitroglycerin, UA/NSTEMI is still associated with significant morbidity and mortality. Although emerging evidence suggests that low molecular weight heparin (LMWH) is more efficacious compared to unfractionated heparin (UFH), there is limited data to support the role of heparins as a drug class in the treatment of ACS.

Objectives

To determine the effect of heparins (UFH and LMWH) compared with placebo for the treatment of patients with ACS.

Search methods

We searched the Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials on *The Cochrane Library* (issue 4, 2002), MEDLINE (1966 to May 2002), EMBASE (1980 to May 2002) and CINAHL (1982 to May 2002). Authors of included studies and pharmaceutical industry representatives were contacted to determine if unpublished studies which met the inclusion criteria were available.

Selection criteria

Randomized controlled trials of parenteral UFH or LMWH versus placebo in people with ACS (UA or NSTEMI).

Data collection and analysis

Two reviewers independently assessed quality of studies. Data were extracted independently by two reviewers. Study authors were contacted to verify and clarify missing data.

Main results

Eight studies (3118 participants) were included in this review. We found no evidence for difference in overall mortality between the groups treated with heparin and placebo (RR = 0.84, 95% CI 0.36 to 1.98). Heparins reduced the occurrence of MI (RR = 0.40, 95% CI 0.25 to 0.63, NNT = 33). An increase in the incidence of minor bleeds (RR = 6.80, 95% CI 1.23 to 37.49, NNH = 17).

Authors' conclusions

Compared to placebo, patients treated with heparins had similar risk of mortality, revascularization, recurrent angina, major bleeding and thrombocytopenia. However, those treated with heparins had decreased risk of MI and a higher incidence of minor bleeding.

PLAIN LANGUAGE SUMMARY

Heparins reduce the number of heart attacks but caused more minor bleeding after acute coronary syndromes compared to placebo

Blood clots in the arteries leading to the heart can cause acute coronary syndromes: unstable angina (a feeling of tightness in the chest) or a type of heart attack (non-ST segment myocardial infarction - NSTEMI). Drugs that prevent clots from forming (such as aspirin) or thin the blood (such as heparin) can relieve the problem. Unfractionated heparin (UFH) and low molecular weight heparin (LMWH) are two types of heparin. This review of trials found that UFH and LMWH when given to patients with high-risk unstable angina or NSTEMI in the acute phase of treatment in addition to standard therapy with aspirin, prevent more heart attacks than placebo but do not reduce mortality, the need for revascularization procedures or recurrent angina. Although there was limited reporting of side effects, heparins caused more cases of minor bleeding.

BACKGROUND

Acute coronary syndromes represent a spectrum of disease ranging from unstable angina to non-ST segment myocardial infarction (NSTEMI) and ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction (STEMI). Acute coronary syndromes are characterized by the formation of atherolsclerotics plaque. Plaque disruption or erosion is the final step in the activation of the platelet system and the coagulation cascade in the coronary vessels. The resulting labile thrombus causes a transient occlusion of the coronary arteries resulting in the clinical presentation of unstable angina (Fuster 1995). Recent research has highlighted the increasingly central role of inflammation in the pathogenesis of atherosclersosis. Macrophage infiltration of plaque is key to this process (Libby 2002). Until recently, a significant proportion of patients admitted with unstable angina progressed to myocardial infarction or died in hospital (Cairns 1989; Cohen 1998).

NSTEMI may be differentiated from unstable angina by the presence of elevated cardiac enzymes indicating actual progression to myocardial necrosis and infarction. Initially, however, the two entities may present identically. Both unstable angina and NSTEMI are differentiated from STEMI in that they are not amenable to either immediate reperfussion therapy with systemic fibrinolytic therapy or immediate percutaneous coronary intervention.

Given the role of thrombin in the pathogenesis of acute coronary syndromes, heparin has the potential to decrease the occurrence of these undesirable outcomes. Unfractionated heparin (UFH) is a heterogenous mixture of polysaccharide chains whose mechanism of action is mediated through a unique pentasaccaride with a high affinity for antithrombin III. This bond produces a conformational change that increases the ability of antithrombin III to deactivate thrombin, factor Xa and factor IXa. Unfortunately, only one third of the UFH molecules have antithrombin III activity and UFH non-specific binding to protein and cells results in a less predictable dose-response curve (Hirsh 1998). Low molecular weight heparin (LMWH) which is derived from the deploymerization of standard UFH into lower molecular weight fragments has a number of theoretical advantages including a more predicatable dose-response curve, longer half-life and a lower incidence of heparin-induced thrombocytopenia which may be explained by reduced binding to platelets (Weitz 1997).

Although a recent systematic review has shown a trend towards improved efficacy with the addition of UFH to aspirin therapy (Oler 1996), this study failed to show a significant reduction in death and myocardial infarction. Despite this, UFH is considered the accepted treatment standard for NSTEMI and unstable angina (RISC 1990; Theroux 1988) and continues to be the benchmark against which LMWH and other agents are judged.

With the advent of LMWH and other agents such as IIb/IIIa platelet inhibitors, there is renewed interest in the role of heparin in the treatment of acute coronary syndromes. Although emerging evidence suggests that LMWH is more efficacious compared to UFH (Eikelboom 2000; Magee 2003), there is limited data to support the role of heparin as a drug class in the treatment of acute coronary syndromes. This systematic review of heparins (UFH and

LMWH) in the acute treatment of unstable angina and NSTEMI attempts to fill that void.

OBJECTIVES

The objective of this systematic review was to determine the effect of heparin compared with placebo for the treatment of patients with acute coronary syndromes.

METHODS

Criteria for considering studies for this review

Types of studies

To be considered, clinical studies were required to be randomized controlled trials, including multi-arm trials. Blinding was not a requirement.

Types of participants

Only studies which included adult patients (> 18 years of age) presenting with acute coronary syndromes requiring treatment within 72 hours of presentation of their last episode of chest pain were considered eligible for inclusion. Acute coronary syndromes included unstable angina and NSTEMI. Unstable angina had to be characterized as typical chest pain lasting at least 10 minutes within 72 hours of presentation with either historic, electrocardiographic or angiographic evidence of underlying ischemic heart disease. NSTEMI had to be characterized as chest pain with ST segment depression and elevation of relative cardiac enzymes (total creatine kinase (CK) greater than twice the usual upper limit or CK-MB greater than the upper normal limit). Those studies where the patients were inpatients, had stable angina, were volunteers, or presented to non-Emergency Department settings were excluded.

Types of interventions

All patients were required to receive standard aspirin therapy and be randomized to receive treatment with either parentral UFH of LMWH compared to placebo within 72 hours of presentation. Only studies reporting clinically relevant outcomes were considered. Outcomes over all time periods were considered. Outcomes included:

- death (all cause mortality);
- myocardial infarction;

- recurrent angina (e.g. anginal chest pain that requires nitroglycerin infusion to be restarted);

- revascularization procedures (e.g. angioplasty with or without stenting, coronary artery bypass grafting);

- major hemorrhage (e.g. fall in hemoglobin level of >20 g/L, requires transfussion, is intracranial, retroperitoneal, or intraocular, or causes death or ceasation of the study treatment);

 minor hemorrhage (e.g. any clinically important bleed that does not qualify as major; e.g. epistaxis, ecchymosis or hematoma, or macroscopic hematuria);

- thrombocytopenia (e.g. platelet count <100x10⁹/L);

- allergic reactions.

Search methods for identification of studies

Comprehensive searches of the Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials (CENTRAL) on *The Cochrane Library* (Issue 4, 2002), MEDLINE (January 1966 to May 2002), EMBASE (1980 to May 2002) and CINAHL (1982 to May 2002) were completed. There were no language or publication status restrictions. The search consisted of the following terms:

a) heparin OR low molecular weight heparin OR LMWH OR nadroparin OR fraxiparin OR enoxaparin OR clexane OR lovenox OR dalteparin OR fragmin OR ardeparin OR normiflo OR tinzapain OR logiparin OR innohep OR certoparin OR sandoparin OR reviparin OR clivarin AND

b) angina OR angina pectoris OR non-Q-wave myocardial infarction

Reference lists of all available primary studies and review articles were reviewed to identify potential relevant citations. Inquiries regarding other published or unpublished studies known and/or supported by the authors of the primary studies were made so that these results could be included in this review. Scientific advisors of the various pharmaceutical companies (Aventis, Leo, Novartis, Pharmacia, Sanofi-Synthelabo, Wyeth-Ayerst) that manufacture LMWH were contacted for any unpublished or interim results on the acute use of LMWH for patients with unstable angina. Finally, personal contact with colleagues, collaborators and other trialists working in the field of acute coronary syndromes was made to identify potentially relevant studies.

Data collection and analysis

Types of outcome measures

Retrieval of studies

Heparin versus placebo for acute coronary syndromes (Review)

Copyright @ 2010 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

All trials which appeared relevant on the basis of title, abstract, and MeSH headings were selected for full review by two reviewers (KM and BR or SC).

From these potentially relevant articles, and any added from the grey literature searches or communication, two reviewers (KM, BR) independently selected trials (based on the full text format) for inclusion in this review. Agreement was measured using simple agreement and kappa statistics. Disagreement was resolved by consensus or third party adjudication. Independent reviewers (KM, BR) extracted the data of each included study.

Assessment of methodological quality

The methodological quality assessment was performed using two methods and independently by two reviewers. The abstractors were not blinded to the authors or the results of the study; however, we performed a pilot study of the two methods of quality assessment, followed by an observer reliability study. An acceptable level of agreement was reached on the first pilot in order for the quality assessment approach to be considered acceptable (kappa = 0.61). Using the Cochrane approach to assessment of allocation concealment (Clarke 2001), all trials were scored and entered using the following principles: (A) adequate; (B) uncertain; (C) inadequate; (D) not used. Inter-rater reliability was measured by using kappa weighted statistics. In addition, each study was assessed using a 0-5 validated scale described by Jadad (Jadad 1996).

Data extraction

Data for the trials were extracted independently by two reviewers (BR, KM) and entered into Review Manager software. Data extraction included the following items:

· Population: age, gender, time to presentation, inclusion and exclusion criteria;

Intervention: agent, dose, duration of therapy;

· Control: UFH dose, weight-based versus fixed dosing, duration, target aPTT, time to adequate aPTT;

• Outcome: timing of primary outcome, assessors, adjudication, definition of: myocardial infarction, unstable

angina, mortality;

 Side-effect profile: designation of minor and major bleeding;

• Design: parallel group versus cross-over; method of randomization, blinding and follow up.

The data were also evaluated for the presence of publication bias using graphical and statistical methods.

Statistical considerations

An analysis was completed which deals with the 'missing data' issues from the individual trials. If a publication bias was present, the results were adjusted using the Egger approach and the 'trim and fill' approach (Egger 1997). In addition, quality weighting was used to test the robustness of the results.

All trials were combined using the Review Manager (Update Software, Version 4.2.7; Oxford, UK). For dichotomous variables, individual and pooled statistics were calculated as relative risks (RR) with 95% confidence intervals (95% CI). A random-effects model was used when more than five trials were pooled. When fewer trials or no heterogeneity was identified, a fixed-effect model was employed. For continuous outcomes, individual and pooled statistics were calculated as weighted mean differences (WMD) or standardized mean differences (SMD) and 95% CIs using a random-effects model. Heterogeneity was assessed using the I² statistic(Higgins 2003). The presence of publication bias was examined visually using a funnel plot.

Subgroup analysis

Two specific subgroups were planned *a priori*: a) Population: unstable angina vs. unstable angina and NSTEMI; and

b) Intervention: UFH versus LMWH.

Sensitivity analysis

In the setting of significant heterogeneity (P < 0.1), a priori we decided the groups would be divided using the following criteria: a) Methodological quality: those studies with a Jadad score of 3 or higher versus those with a score of less than 3. b) Statistical sensitivity (FE vs. RE).

RESULTS

Description of studies

See: Characteristics of included studies; Characteristics of excluded studies.

The computerized search of EMBASE, MEDLINE and CINAHL identified 2193 original publication citations. Independent review of the abstracts and titles of these publications identified 56 potentially relevant studies (k = 0.38). Of these potentially relevant articles, eight studies met inclusion critetria, with a total of 3118 patients being included in this systematic review. The kappa statistic for inter-rater agreement on including or excluding potential trials was 'substantial' (k = 0.83) (Landis 1977). One potentially relevant abstract is awaiting assessment as detailed methodology and outcomes could not be obtained (Zwerner 1987). The full list of excluded studies and reasons for exclusion are given in the Characteristics of excluded studies table.

The evidence for the use of heparins in acute coronary syndrome first appeared in the literature in the late 1980s with studies

comparing heparin versus aspirin or non-aspirin controls. By the mid 1990s, studies began replacing UFH with LMWH (Cohen 1990; Cohen 1994; Doucet 2000; FRISC 1996; Gurfinkel 1995; Holdright 1994; RISC 1990; Theroux 1988). With the exception of the two Swedish trials that enrolled nearly 1500 patients (FRISC 1996) and over 900 patients (RISC 1990), the remaining six studies were smaller, enrolling less than 400 patients each. Two studies were conducted in Canada (Doucet 2000; Theroux 1988), one in the United Kingdom (Holdright 1994), one in the United States (Cohen 1994) and one in Argentina (Gurfinkel 1995). Additionally, one study (Cohen 1994) was conducted in both the United Kingdom and the United States.

Study design

All studies were RCTs; however, not all were double blind. In three studies (Doucet 2000; FRISC 1996; Theroux 1988), concealment of allocation was adequate. In the remaining studies, there was insufficient evidence to determine whether or not there was adequate concealment. Three studies (Doucet 2000; Gurfinkel 1995; Holdright 1994) reported on outcomes only over the duration of the hospital admission. In one study (FRISC 1996), only data from the in-patient arm of the study was used although patients were followed for 5 to 7 months. In all other studies, however, the patients were followed and the outcomes measured at 3 months.

Participants

Traditionally, heparin was started in the treatment of acute coronary syndromes based on history alone; however, in many of these studies, patients were selected on the basis of more narrow inclusion criteria. They had to have a history of unstable angina plus one of the following: a previous history of known coronary artery disease (defined as a prior myocardial infarction, positive exercise stress test or angiographic evidence), ECG changes, or cardiac enzyme elevation. One study (Doucet 2000) stipulated that patients had to present with angina within 2 weeks to 6 months following coronary angioplasty.

Interventions

The studies were conducted over an 11-year time period from 1985 until 1996 and included 3110 patients treated with either UFH or LMWH. In total, 1602 patients (52%) were eligible to receive LMWH and 1508 patients (48%) were eligible to receive UFH. Two different LMWHs were used: dalteparin (1498 eligible subjects) and nadroparin (104 eligible subjects). Of the patients receiving UFH, 19% were switched to warfarin when the UFH was discontinued. Most trials mandated that subjects receive study medication within 24 hours of the most recent episode of chest pain; however, some patients received it as late as 48 hours in two studies (Cohen 1990; Cohen 1994) and up to 72 hours in two other studies (FRISC 1996; RISC 1990). The duration of

treatment varied among the different studies with a range of 2 to 7 days. Aspirin (75 to 325 mg per day) was a standard concomitant intervention in all of the studies. Treatment with other anti-anginal medications (e.g. nitroglycerin, beta-blockers and calcium channel blockers) was at the discretion of the attending physician in most studies.

Outcomes

A variety of outcome measures were reported. Death, myocardial infarction, recurrent angina, revascularization and major bleeds were the most commonly reported outcomes across the studies, and are similar to the outcomes reported in the Cochrane review on UFH versus LMWH in the treatment of acute coronary syndromes (Magee 2003). One study (Holdright 1994) reported a combined end point of death or myocardial infarction and it was not possible to separate the individual event rates. Death was reported as 'all-cause' and secondary to myocardial infarction in most studies. Myocardial infarction was clearly defined as typical chest pain associated with the appearance of new significant ECG changes (new ST-T changes, loss of R-wave amplitude or developement of Q-waves) and the subsequent elevation of serum cardiac enzymes (creatine kinase, plus or minus MB fraction) beyond levels drawn at enrollment. The definition of recurrent angina varied among the studies. Of the six papers which included recurrent angina as a study end point, three required a history of typical chest pain accompanied by ECG changes (Cohen 1990; Cohen 1994; Theroux 1988). The other three studies either did not require associated ST segment changes to diagnose recurrent angina or were unclear how they defined this end point (Doucet 2000; FRISC 1996; Gurfinkel 1995). The indications for revascularization were not well defined in most studies with 'severe refractory/recurrent ischemia' being the most common criteria. The definition of major bleeding complications was consistent across all studies. Minor bleeds and the incidence of thrombocytopenia were only reported in three and two studies respectively.

The timing of the end points was inconsistent among the trials ranging from 48 hours to 3 months. In four studies, endpoints were recorded over a 5 to 8 day period (Doucet 2000; FRISC 1996; Gurfinkel 1995; Holdright 1994), while in the other four studies, end points were measured at 3 months (Cohen 1990; Cohen 1994; RISC 1990; Theroux 1988). We have grouped the results for all reported time periods.

Risk of bias in included studies

Using the Jadad method, four studies representing 75% of enrolled subjects, were rated as methodologically 'high quality' (Doucet 2000; FRISC 1996; RISC 1990; Theroux 1988) and four were rated as 'weak' (Cohen 1990; Cohen 1994; Gurfinkel 1995; Holdright 1994). The median score was 3 with an interquartile

range of 2 to 4. Using the Cochrane methodology, four of the eight studies had unclear concealment of allocation.

Effects of interventions

As the timing of outcomes varied between studies, the results are tabulated over all time periods.

Death

Death was reported as an outcome in six trials involving 2426 patients. The incidence of death in those treated with placebo was 0.9%(11/1188) compared to 0.7% (9/1238) in those treated with a heparin. Overall, there was a trend towards fewer deaths in the heparin group compared to the placebo group; however, this was not statistically significant (RR = 0.84, 95% CI 0.36 to 1.98, P = 0.82, I2 = 0%).

Myocardial infarction

Myocardial infarction was reported as an outcome in six trials involving 2426 patients. Heparins were superior to placebo in preventing myocardial infarction (RR = 0.40, 95% CI 0.25 to 0.63, P = 0.63, I² = 0.0%). The overall incidence of MI was 4.8% (57/1188) in those treated with placebo compared to 1.9% (24/ 1238) in those treated with heparin. Given the risk difference of -0.03 (95% CI -0.01 to -0.04), 33 (95% CI 25 to 100) patients would need to be treated with either type of heparin to prevent one additional myocardial infarction in patients presenting with acute coronary syndromes.

Recurrent angina

Recurrent angina was reported as an outcome in six studies involving 2426 patients. There was evidence of heterogeneity in this data set (P < 0.01) and a random-effects model was used to calculate the pooled statistic. Although heparins as a group showed a trend towards preventing recurrent angina compared to placebo, this result was not statistically significant (RR = 0.81, 95% CI 0.60 to 1.09; I² = 65.0%). The subgroup of LMWH demonstrated a clear benefit compared to aspirin alone, consistent with the previous acute coronary syndromes review on this topic (Magee 2003).

Revascularization procedures

The need for a revascularization procedure was reported as an outcome in six of the eight included studies involving 2520 patients. The pooled results from these studies failed to demonstrate a benefit of heparins compared to aspirin plus placebo in preventing revascularization procedures (RR = 0.93, 95% CI 0.76 to 1.15, I 2 = 41.1%).

Multiple end points

We were able to calculate the incidence of death **or** myocardial infarction for all eight included studies involving a total of 3110 patients. Patients who were treated with heparins were less likely to experience one of these outcomes compared to those treated with placebo (RR = 0.61, 95% CI 0.47 to 0.80, $I^2 = 26.5\%$). No significant heterogeneity was identified in this result (P = 0.22). The incidence of death or myocardial infarction was 4.9% (79/1602) for patients treated with heparins compared to 7.6% (115/1508) for those treated with placebo. Given a risk difference of -0.03 (95% CI -0.01 to -0.05), 33 (95% CI 20 to 100) patients would need to be treated with heparin to prevent one additional death or myocardial infarction.

Major bleeds

Eight trials, involving 3118 patients, reported major bleeds as an outcome. There was a trend towards more major bleeds in the heparin studies compared to control studies; however, this did not reach the required level of statistical significance (RR = 2.05, 95% CI 0.91 to 4.60, $I^2 = 0.0\%$). In the two studies that treated patients with warfarin after initial heparin (Cohen 1990; Cohen 1994), there was a trend towards more major bleeds, but this was not statistically significant (RR = 7.26, 95% CI 0.38 to 138). No heterogeneity was observed in this outcome (P = 0.93).

Minor bleeds

Only three of the eight included studies (n = 1931) reported minor bleeds as an outcome. Data from the analysis indicated heterogeneity (P < 0.03) so a random-effects model was used to pool data. Patients who were treated with heparins experienced significantly more minor bleeds compared to patients treated with placebo (RR = 6.80, 95% CI 1.23 to 37.49, I^2 = 66.9%). In the heparin group, 8.0% (79/989) of patients experienced minor bleeding compared to only 0.5% (5/942) in control group. This represents a risk difference of 0.06 (95% CI 0.02 to 0.11), such that for every 17 (95% CI 9 to 50) patients treated with heparin, one additional case of minor bleeding was observed.

Thrombocytopenia

Only two studies (n = 1717) reported the outcome of thrombocytopenia. From this limited data set, there appeared to be no difference between patients treated with heparins compared to control in the occurrence of thrombocytopenia (RR = 0.20, 95% CI 0.01 to 4.24, $I^2 = 0.0\%$).

Sensitivity analysis

Sensitivity analysis based on random-effects versus fixed-effect modelling yielded very similar overall results. With the exception

of recurrent angina, the pooled statistic for all other outcomes was essentially unchanged regardless of whether a random-effects or fixed-effect model was chosen. If a fixed-effect instead of a random-effects model had been used for recurrent angina, the point estimate would have essentially remained unchanged; however, the narrowed 95% CIs would result in a statistically significant reduction of recurrent angina with heparins compared to aspirin alone (RR = 0.79, 95% CI 0.67 to 0.93). The trial quality assessment eliminated four papers, approximately 25% of enrolled subjects. When this sensitivity analysis (e.g. excluding these studies) was performed, there were no important changes in these pooled results.

Subgroup analysis

Subgroup analysis based on whether patients had UA versus a NSTEMI was not possible in this review, since subgroup data could not be obtained from the studies.

Subgroup comparisons based on whether UFH or LMWH was used were difficult to make due to small study numbers. Of the eight included studies, only two (FRISC 1996; Gurfinkel 1995) compared LMWH versus placebo. It is interesting to note, however, that only the LMWH subgroup showed a statistically significant benefit over the control group in any of the outcomes studies. Higgins and Thompson (Higgins 2003) propose the I² statistic which describes the percentage of total variation across studies due to heterogeneity rather than chance. Using their methods, significant and important heterogeneity was identified with respect to the incidence of recurrent angina (P = 0.0087 and I² = 66.6%) and revascularization procedures (P = 0.12 and I² = 41.1%). When the data were analyzed according to the treatment received, clinically important subgroups were identified. The pooled analysis from the LMWH subgroup showed statistically significant benefit with respect to the incidence of recurrent angina (P = 0.52; 95% CI 0.36 to 0.74) and revascularization procedures (P = 0.26; 95% CI: 0.09 to 0.78), even though this benefit was lost when all heparins were grouped together.

DISCUSSION

This systematic review examined the best available evidence for the use of heparins in the treatment of acute coronary syndromes and identified several important outcomes related to their use. Overall, heparins as a group failed to demonstrate a statistically significant reduction in mortality, although a beneficial effect as great as a 64% reduction or an increased risk of 98% can not be excluded. Given the low incidence of death in the included studies (~1 to 2%), this systematic review is under-powered to detect small treatment differences. For this outcome, the systematic review had 80% power to detect a relative reduction in risk of 84% (from 0.93% to 0.15%). Approximately 4900 patients in each group would have been required to detect a 50% relative reduction in risk (power = 80%, two-sided alpha = 0.05). Treatment with heparins did, however, reduce the incidence of myocardial infarction such that 33 patients needed to be treated with heparin to prevent one additional myocardial infarction. For most of the other outcomes, the benefit of using heparins was less clear.

Half of all subjects randomized to receive heparin in this review were eligible to receive LMWH. When these studies were pooled, LMWH proved to be superior to placebo not only with reducing the incidence of myocardial infarction, but also with reducing the incidence of recurrent angina and the need for revascularization procedures. Again, although statistically significant, the absolute risk reductions were small (1 to 3%) suggesting caution in the clinical interpretation of these findings.

Overall, little heterogeneity was identified in the pooled results reported in this review. This is not surprising given that acute coronary syndromes represent a well-defined disease spectrum with fairly clear-cut dichotomous outcomes. Outcomes in which heterogeneity was identified included the incidence of recurrent angina and minor bleeds ($I^2 = 66.6\%$ and 66.9%, respectively). A moderate degree of heterogeneity was identified ($I^2 = 41.1\%$) in the incidence of revascularization procedures. This can in part be accounted for by subtle differences in study design: inclusion criteria, dosing regime, UFH versus LMWH use and timing of outcomes. To a larger extent, however, this heterogeneity may reflect the particular outcomes in question, the definitions of which varied between studies and local practices relating to revascularization procedures.

Overall, heparins appeared to be a safe treatment for acute coronary syndromes. Although there were a trend towards more major bleeds in the heparin-treated group, this was not statistically significant. Not surprisingly, patients treated with heparins had a higher incidence of minor bleeding. It is difficult to comment on the rate of thrombocytopenia as only two studies commented on this rare, but potentially life-threatening complication of heparinization. This data must be interpreted with caution, however, as side-effects were poorly reported in most studies.

There is a possibility of publication bias in this systematic review. For example, by missing unpublished 'statistically' negative trials we may be over-estimating the effect of heparin treatment. However, a comprehensive search of the published literature for potentially relevant studies was conducted, using a systematic strategy to avoid bias. This was followed by attempts to contact corresponding and first authors. Although no unpublished or negative trials were identified, we recognize that these types of trials may exist. The funnel plot demonstrates asymmetry in the area of small negative trials, so this is a legitimate concern (Figure 1). Given the nature of the research (e.g. expensive, complex, difficult to fund), however, these small negative trials are unlikely, and would not be expected to influence the results. There is also a possibility of study selection bias. Five trials in which the study group did not receive aspirin or were compared versus a non-aspirin control were excluded (Averkov 1993; Charvat 1989; Serneri 1995; Theroux 1993) because of the well-accepted treatment of acute coronary syndromes with aspirin (Lewis 1983; Oler 1996; Theroux 1988). However, we employed two independent reviewers, and feel confident that the studies excluded were done so for consistent and appropriate reasons. Our search was comprehensive and has been updated, so it is unlikely that we missed any published trials.





This systematic review illustrates the potential benefit of using heparins in the early of treatment of ACS. Patients presenting with high risk unstable angina or NSTEMI should be considered for a 5 to 8 day course of heparin therapy in addition to aspirin and standard anti-anginal therapy when they meet the criteria outlined in these studies. Most studies restricted enrolment to patients who had either a documented history of coronary artery disease, ECG changes or cardiac enzyme elevation, which is somewhat different from the patient population traditionally treated with heparins for acute coronary syndrome. Therefore, we cannot recommend the indiscriminate use of heparins for acute coronary syndromes.

UFH or LMWH must be reserved for those patients with either NSTEMI or high risk unstable angina as defined above. Finally, in those centers with active primary cardiac catheterization facilities, intravenous UFH may represent a safer option than LMWH, as it has a much shorter half-life and is more easily reversed.

In those centers with active primary cardiac catheterization facilities utilizing an early percutaneous coronary intervention (PCI) strategy, intravenous UFH may represent a safer option than LMWH, as it has a much shorter half-life and is more easily reversed. In addition, newer therapeutic options such as glycoprotein IIb/IIIa inhibitors and clopidogrel must be considered in hospitals using an early invasive strategy for patients with UA/NSTEMI. These results are concordant with the most current recommendations made by the American Heart Association (ACLS 2000; Braunwald 2000) and similar to two previous reviews (Eikelboom 2000; Oler 1996). The AHA suggests using either LMWH or UFH for patients with intermediate to high risk unstable angina or NSTEMI. Although in our subgroup analysis, only LMWH appeared to be statistically superior to aspirin alone, there was a relatively small reduction in the absolute risk.

AUTHORS' CONCLUSIONS Implications for practice

This systematic review of randomized controlled trials supports the use of heparins in the early treatment of acute coronary syndromes. Given in addition to aspirin to patients with a history of typical angina accompanied by either a past medical history of coronary artery disease or ECG/cardiac enzyme changes, heparins reduced the incidence of myocardial infarction yet not mortality. In this review, heparins were given within 24 to 72 hours of the onset of symptoms as a weight-adjusted dose for a 2 to 8 day period, with most studies administering it for 2 to 7 days. The small number of studies makes it impossible to recommend a particular dosing regimen. As a subgroup, LMWH and not UFH was the only group to show a statistically significant improvement in any of the outcomes. LMWH reduced the incidence of myocardial infarction, recurrent angina and the need for revascularization procedures. Given the advantages of LMWH over UFH demonstrated in a previous review (Magee 2003) and the evidence reported here, LMWH should be the agent of choice in the early treatment of unstable angina and NSTEMI. In those institutions which have active primary angioplasty suites, there is limited data to recommend LMWH over UFH. Available evidence suggests that both therapies are safe and efficacious although the two treatments have

not been directly compared (Wong 2003).

Implications for research

Despite the strength of the findings of this review, there are several areas in which questions remain unanswered.

• Currently, the optimal time of treatment initiation is unclear. The eight studies examined three different time periods: within 24, 48 and 72 hours. It would be interesting to determine whether the timing of heparin administration (in the emergency department versus on the ward) affects outcomes.

• Given the interventional nature of the investigation and treatment of acute coronary syndromes, the optimal duration of heparin treatment remains controversial. Whether shorter duration treatments might be as effective reamins an interesting, yet unresolved, question.

• With the advent of the use of glycoprotein IIb/IIIa inhibitors in the treatment of acute coronary syndrome, studies are required to determine the efficacy and safety of their use in combination with heparins.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors wish to acknowledge the assistance of the following corresponding author: Dr. Lars Wallentin. We would also like to acknowledge the assistance of the following corresponding pharmaceutical companies: Sanofi-Synthelabo Canada, Aventis Pharma, Leo Pharma and Wyeth Pharmaceuticals. Finally, we would like to thank the Department of Emergency Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, University of Alberta and the Department of Emergency Medicine, Dalhousie University, for research funding that was used in the preparation of this systematic review.

REFERENCES

References to studies included in this review

Cohen 1990 {published data only}

Cohen M, Adams PC, Hawkins L, Bach M, Fuster V. Usefulness of antithrombotic therapy in resting angina pectoris or non-Q-wave myocardial infarction in preventing death and myocardial infarction (a pilot study from the Antithrombotic Therapy in Acute Coronary Syndromes Study Group). *American Journal of Cardiology* 1990;**66**(19): 1287–92.

Cohen 1994 {published data only}

Cohen M, Adams PC, Parry G, Xiong J, Chamberlain D, Wieczorek I, et al.Combination antithrombotic therapy in unstable rest angina and non-Q-wave infarction in nonprior aspirin users. *Circulation* 1994;**89**(1):81–9.

Doucet 2000 {published data only}

Doucet S, Malekianpour M, Theroux P, Bilodeau L, Cote G, Guise P, et al.Randomized trial comparing intravenous nitroglycerin and heparin for treatment of unstable angina secondary to restoneosis after coronary artery angioplasty. *Circulation* 2000;**101**(9):955–61.

FRISC 1996 {published data only}

Swahn E, Wallentin L. Low-molecular-weight heparin (Fragmin) during instability in coronary artery disease (FRISC). *American College of Cardiology* 1997;**80**:25E–29E.
* Wallentin L. Low-molecular-weight heparin during

instability in coronary artery disease. *Lancet* 1996;**347** (9001):561–8.

Gurfinkel 1995 {published data only}

Gurfinkel EP, Manos EJ, Mejail RI, Cerda MA, Duronto EA, Garcia CN, et al.Low molecular weight heparin versus regular heparin or aspirin in the treatment of unstable angina and silent ischemia. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology* 1995;**26**(2):313–8.

Holdright 1994 {published data only}

Holdright D, Patel D, Cunningham D, Thomas R, Hubbard W, Hendry G, et al.Comparison of the effect of heparin and aspirin versus aspirin alone on transient myocardial ischemia and in-hospital prognosis in patients with unstable angina. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology* 1994;**24**(1):39–45.

RISC 1990 {published data only}

Wallentin L. Risk of myocardial infarction and death during treatment with low-dose aspirin and intravenous heparin in men with unstable coronary artery disease. *Lancet* 1990; **336**(8719):830–7.

Theroux 1988 {published data only}

Theroux P, H Ouimet, J McCans, Latour J.-G, Joly P, Levy G, et al.Aspirin, heparin, or both to treat acute unstable angina. *New England Journal of Medicine* 1988;**319**(17): 1105–11.

References to studies excluded from this review

Averkov 1993 {published data only}

Averkov OV, Zateischikov DA, Gratsiansky NA, Logutov YA, Yavelov IS, Yanus VM. Unstable angina pectoris: aspirin and heparin in a double-blind placebo-controlled study, their effects on the outcojjme of disease during hospitalization. *Kardiologiya* 1993;**33**(5):4–9.

Bodo 1995 {published data only}

Bodo I, Nemeth C, Littmann L, Holdright DR, Fox KM. Heparin and aspirin in unstable angina: insufficeitn sample size may lead to erroneous conclusions. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology* 1995;**25**(2):553–4.

Borja 2000a {published data only}

Borja J, Olivella P. Low molecular weigh heparin in the treatment of acute coronary syndromes without ST elevation: Unstable angina and non Q wave myocardial infaction [Hepariona de bajo peso molecuilar en el tratamiento de los sindromes coronarios agudos sin elevacion del degmento ST: angina inestable e infarto de miocardio sin onda Q]. *Medicina Clinica* 2000;**115**(15): 583–6.

Borja 2000b {published data only}

Borja J, Campbell y Pere Olivella J, Magda H. Dalteparin in the acute phase of unstable angina and non-Q-wave infarction [Dalteparina en la fase cronica de la angina inestable e infarto sin onda Q]. *Revista Espanola de Cardiologia* 2000;**53**(8):1147–8.

Borja 2000c {published data only}

Borja J. Dalteparin for unstable angina and non-Q-wave myocardial infarction. *Archives of Internal Medicine* 2000; **160**(20):3169–70.

Charvat 1989 {published data only}

Charvat J, Kuruvilla T. Comparative study of heparin and antiplatelets in treatment of preinfarction angina. *Cardiologia* 1989;**34**:146–54.

Cohen 1993 {published data only}

Cohen M, Xiong J, Parry G, Adams PC, Chamberlain D, Wieczorek I, et al.Prospective comparison of unstable angina versus non-Q-wave myocardial infarction during antithrombotic therapy. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology* 1993;**22**(5):1338–43.

Collins 1996 {published data only}

Collins R, Baigent C, Peto R. Benefit of heparin plus aspirin vs aspirin alone in unstable angina. *JAMA* 1996;**276**:1873.

Correia 1995 {published data only}

Correia LC, Neubauer C, Azevedo A, Ribeiro F, Braga J, Passos LC, et al.The role of low molecular weight heparin in unstable angina, acute myocardial infarction and post-elective percutaneous transluminal coronary angioplast [O papel da heparina de baixo peso do miocardio e pos–angioplastia percutanea transluminal coronaria eletiva.molecular na angina instavel, infarto agudo]. *Arquivos Brasileiros de Cardiologia* 1995;**65**(6):475–8.

Emerg Med 1989 {published data only}

Preventing MI with heparin. *Emergency Medicine* 1989; June:74.

FAMI 2000 {published data only}

Kakkar VV, Iyengar SS, De Lorenzo F, Hargreaves JR, Kadziola ZA. Low molecular weight heparin for treatment of acute myocardial infarction (FAMI): Fragmin (dalteparin sodium) in acute myocardial infarction. *Indian Heart Journal* 2000;**52**:533–9.

Ferguson 1999 {published data only}

Gerguson JJ, Zaqqa M. Platelet Glycoprotein IIb/IIa receptor antagonists current concepts and future directions. *Drugs* 1999;**58**:965–82.

FRISC II 1999 {published data only}

Ragmin F, Wallentin L, Swahn E, Kontny F, Husted S, Lagerqvist B, et al.Long-term low-molecular-mass heparin in unstable coronary-artery disease: FRISC II prospective randomised multicentre study. *Lancet* 1999;**354**(9180): 701–7.

Fujita 1988 {published data only}

Fujita M, Sasayama S, Asanoi H, Nakajima H, Sakai O, Ohno A. Improvement of treadmill capacity and collateral circulation as a result of exercise with heparin pretreatment in patients with effort angina. *Circulation* 1988;77(5): 1022–9.

GISSI-2 1990 {published data only}

Feruglio GA, Lotto A, Rovelli F, Solinas P, Tavazzi L, Tognoni G, et al.GISSI-2: a factorial randomised trial of alteplase versus streptokinase and heparin versus no heparin

among 12490 patients with acute myocardial infarction. *Lancet* 1990;**336**(8707):65–71.

Gorski 1993 {published data only}

Gorski J, Dmochowska-Wroblewska W. Heparin in myocardial infarction and unstable angina [Kliniki Chorob Zawodowych i Tropikalnych Instytutu Medycyny Morskiej i Tropikalnej, Gdyni]. *Kardiologia Polska* 1993;**38**(3): 229–31.

Goy 1999 {published data only}

Goy JJ. Contemporary approach to management of unstable angina. *Lancet* 1999;**354**:694–5.

Gulba 1992 {published data only}

Gulba DC. Heparin therapy in coronary heart disease [Heparin-therapie bei koronarer herzkrankheit]. *Deutsche Medizinische Wochenschrift* 1992;**117**(1):35–6.

Hasselblad 1998 {published data only}

Hasselblad V. Meta-analysis of multitreatment studies. *Medical Decision Making* 1998;**18**(1):37–43.

Huber 1989 {published data only}

Huber K, Resch I, Rosc D, Probst P, Kaindl F, Binder BR. Heparin induced increase of T-PA antigen plasma levels in patients with unstable angina: no evidence for clinical benefit of heparinization during the initial phase of treatment. *Thrombosis Research* 1989;**55**:779–84.

Hurtado 1984 {published data only}

Hurtado L, Adabache M, Escarcega FL, Cardenas M. Acute myocardial infarction treated with anticoagulants [Evolucion hospitalaria del infarto agudo del miocardio tratado con y sin anticoagulantes]. *Archivos del Instituto de Cardiologia de Mexico* 1984;**54**(5):463–70.

Jaffrani 1993 {published data only}

Jaffrani NA, Ehrenpreis S, Laddu A, Somberg J. Therapeutic approach to unstable angina: nitroglycerin, heparin, and combined therapy. *American Heart Journal* 1993;**126**: 1239–42.

Kaul 2000 {published data only}

Kaul S, Shah PK. Low molecular weight heparin in acute coronary syndrome: evidence for superior or equivalent efficacy compared with unfractionated heparin. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology* 2000;**35**:1699–712.

Kontny 2001 {published data only}

Kontny F. Improving outcomes in acute coronary syndromes - the FRISC II trial. *Clinical Cardiology* 2001;**24**(3 Suppl): I3–7.

Mattioli 1999 {published data only}

Mattioli AV, Tarabini Castellani E, Goedecke L, Sormani L, Sternieri S, Mattioli G. Efficacy and tolerability of a very low molecular weight heparin compared with standard heparin in patients with unstable angina: a pilot study. *Clinical Cardiology* 1999;**22**(3):213–7.

Milonig-Ganner 1989 {published data only}

Millonig-Gannjer. [Koronarer bypass: erfolg hangt oft von psyche ab]. *Arch Medici Nr* 1989;**8**:433–4.

Moise 1994 {published data only}

Moise A, Roos M. Aspirin versus heparin in the acute phase of unstable angina. *Circulation* 1994;**90**:1107.

Montgomery 1995 {published data only}

Montgomery HE, Chester MR. Heparin in unstable angina. *Lancet* 1995;**346**:248.

Nardelli 1991 {published data only}

Nardelli A, Bottero G, De Francesco A. Study on the efficacy of heparin and aspirin in unstable angina and acute heart infarction [Cosa hanno insegnato i grandi trials sull'eparina e sull'aspirina nell'angina instablile e nell'infarto miocardico acuto]. *Clinica e Terapia Cardiovascolare* 1991;**10**(3):171–7.

Ocampo 1998 {published data only}

Ocampo S, Solorio S, Rangel A, Leon FJ, Lepe L, Ayala F, et al.Low molecular weight heparin in unstable angina pectoris [La heparina de bajo peso molecular en la angina de pecho inestable]. *Archivos del Instituto de Cardiologia de Mexico* 1999;**69**:222–227.

Oler 1996 {published data only}

Oler A, Whooley MA, Oler J, Grady D. Adding heparin to aspirin reduces the incidence of myocardial infarctionand death in patients with unstable angina. *JAMA* 1996;**276**: 811–5.

PURSUIT 2001 {published data only}

Lauer MA, Houghtaling PL, Peterson JG, Granger CB, Bhatt DL, Sapp SK, et al.Attenuation of rebound ischemia after discontinuation of heparin therapy by glycoprotein IIb/IIIa inhibition with eptifibatide in patients with acute coronary syndromes: observations from the platelet IIb/IIIa in unstable angina: receptor suppression using integrilin therapy (PURSUIT) trial. *Circulation* 2001;**104**(23): 2772–7.

Raschke 1993 {published data only}

Raschke RA, Reilly BM, Guidry JR, Fontana JR, Srinivas S. The weight-based heparin dosing nomogram compared with a "standard care" nomogram. *Annals of Internal Medicine* 1993;**119**:874–81.

Rubio-Terres 2001 {published data only}

Rubio-Terres C, Pajuelo F, Margalet I. Low-molecularweight heparins in unstable angina and non-Q-wave myocardial infarction [Heparinas de bajo peso molecular en la angina inestable y el infarto de miocardio sin onda Q]. *Medicina Clinica* 2001;**116**(16):638–9.

Sayen 1982 {published data only}

Sayen JJ, Singer RB, Peirce G, Horwitz O. Unstable angina, myocardial infarction, heparin and death: medium dose heparin (not exceeding 20,000 units/day) in the treatment of patients with acute coronary event - first year and longterm cmparative mortality. *Transactions of the American Clinical & Climatological Association* 1982;**94**:141–53.

Serneri 1988 {published data only}

Serneri GGN, Abbate R, Prisco D, Carnovali M, Fazi A, Casolo GC, et al.Decrease in frequency of anginal episodes by control of thrombin generation with low-dose heparin: a controlled cross-over randomized study. *American Heart Journal* 1988;115:60–6.

Serneri 1990 {published data only}

Serneri GGN, Gensini GF, Poggesi L, Trotta F, Modesti PA, Boddi M, et al.Effect of heparin, aspirin, or alteplase in reduction of myocardial ischaemia in regractory unstalbe angina. *Lancet* 1990;**335**:615–8.

Serneri 1995 {published data only}

Serneri GGN, Modesti PA, Gensini GF, et al.Randomised comparison of subcutaneous heparin, intravenous heparin, and aspirin in unstable angina. Studio Epoorine Sottocutanea nell'Angina Instobile (SESAIR) Refrattorie Group. *Lancet* 1995;**345**:1201–4.

Spodick 1989 {published data only}

Spodick DH. Aspirin, heparin, or both to treat unstable angina. *New England Journal of Medicine* 1989;**320**:1014.

TETAMI 2000 {published data only}

Cohen M, Maritz F, Gensini GF, Danchin N, Timerman A, Huber K, et al. The TETAMI Trial: the safety and efficacy of subcutaneous enoxaparin versus intravenous unfractionated heparin and tirofiban versus placebo in the treatment of acute myocardial infarction for patients not thrombolyzed: methods and design. *Journal of Thrombosis & Thrombolysis* 2000;**10**:241–6.

Theroux 1993 {published data only}

Theroux P, waters D, Qiu S, McCans J, de Guise P, Juneau M. Aspirin versus heparin to prevent myocardial infarction during the acute phase of unstable angina. *Circulation* 1993;**88**(5 Pt 1):2045–8.

Thieuleux 1985 {published data only}

Thieuleux FA, Vilarem D, Lablanche JM, Asseman PA, Thery C, Bertrand ME. Management of unstable angina pectoris with maximal medical treatment (combination of intravenous nitrates, beta-blockers, calcium antagonists and heparin). *Bibliotheca Cardiologica* 1985;**39**:88–96.

Umans 1997 {published data only}

Umans VA, Kloeg PH, Bronzwaer J. The CAPTURE trial. *Lancet* 1997;**350**:445.

Violaris 1991 {published data only}

Violaris AG, Campbell S. Low-dose aspirin and heparin in ujnstable coronary artery disease. *Lancet* 1991;**337**:489–90.

Wallentin 1997 {published data only}

Wallentin L, Husted S, Kontny F. Long-term low-molecularweight heparin (Fragmin) and/or early revascularization during instability in coronary artery disease (the FRISC II study). *American Journal of Cardiology* 1997;**80**:61E–63E.

Wallis 1991 {published data only}

Wallis DE, Boden WE, Califf R, Crawford MH, Hakki AH, Iskandrian AS, et al.Failure of adjuvant heparin to reduce myocardial ischemia in the early treatment of patients with unstable angina. *American Heart Journal* 1991;**122**:949–54.

References to studies awaiting assessment

Zwerner 1987 {published data only}

Zwerner P, Gore J, Corrao J, et al.Heparin in the treatment of unstable angina: a randomized prospective trial. *Circulation* 1987;**76**(Suppl IV):IV–180.

Additional references

ACLS 2000

ACLS. Part 7: the era of reperfusion. Section 1: acute coronary syndromes (acute myocardial infarction).. *Circulation* 2000;**102**(Suppl I):172–303.

Braunwald 2000

Braunwald E. ACC/AHA guidelines for the management of patients with unstable angina and non-ST-segment elevation of myocardial infarction. Executive summary and recommendations: a report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines (Committee on the Management of Patients with Unstable Angina). *Circulation* 2000;**102**: 1193–209.

Cairns 1989

Cairns JA, J Singer, M Gent, et al.One year mortality outcomes of all coronary and intensive care unit patients with acute myocardial infarction, unstable angina or chest pain in Hamilton, Ontario, a city of 375,000 people. *Canadian Journal of Cardiology* 1989;**319**:239–46.

Clarke 2001

Clarke M, AD Oxman, editors. Assessment of study quality. Cochrane Reviewers Handbook 4.1.3 [updated june 2001]; Section 6. *Cochrane Reviewers Handbook*. Oxford: Update Software, 2001.

Cohen 1998

Cohen M. Approaches to the treatment of unstable angina and non-Q wave myocardial infarction. *Canadian Journal* of *Cardiology* 1998;**14**(Suppl E):11E–14E.

Egger 1997

Egger M, Davey Smith G, Schnieder M. Bias in metaanalysis detected by a simple, graphical test.. *BMJ* 1997; **315**:629–34.

Eikelboom 2000

Eikelboom JW, Anand SS, Malmberg K, Weitz JI, Ginsberg JS, Yusuf S. Unfractionated heparin and low-molecular weight heparin in acute coronary syndrome without ST elevation: a meta-analysis. *Lancet* 2000;**355**:1936–42.

Fuster 1995

Fuster V. Elucidation of the role of plaque instability and rupture in acute coronary events. *American Journal of Cardiology* 1995;**76**:24C–33C.

Higgins 2003

Higgins JP, Thompson SG, Deek JJ, Altman DG. Bias in meta-analysis detected by a simple, graphical test.. *BMJ* 2003;**327**:557–60.

Hirsh 1998

Hirsh j, Warkentin TE, Raschke R, et al.Heparin and low molecular weight heparin: mechanisms of action, pharmacokinetics, dosing considerations, monitoring, efficacy and safety. *Chest* 1998;**114**:4895–510S.

Jadad 1996

Jadad AR, RA Moore, D Carroll, C Jenkinson, DJ Reynolds, DJ Gavaghan, et al.Assessing the quality of reports of

randomized clinical trials: is blinding necessary?. *Controlled Clinical Trials* 1996;**17**:1–12.

Landis 1977

Landis JR, Koch GG. The measurement of observer agreement for categorical data. *Biometrics* 1977;**33**:159–74.

Lewis 1983

Lewis HD, Davis JW, Archibald DG, et al.Proctective effects of aspirin against acute myocardial infarction and death in men with unstable angina: results fo a Veterans Administration Cooperative Study. *New England Journal of Medicine* 1983;**309**:396–403.

Libby 2002

Libby P, Ridker PM, Maseri A. Inflammation and atherosclerosis. *Circulation* 2002;**105**:1135–43.

Magee 2003

Magee KD, Sevcik W, Moher D, Rowe BH. Low molecular weight heparins versus unfractionated heparin for acute coronary syndromes (Cochrane Review). *Cochrane Database* of Systematic Reviews 2003, Issue 1. [DOI: 10.1002/ 14651858.CD002132]

Weitz 1997

Weitz JE. Low molecular wieght heparins. *New England Journal of Medicine* 1997;**337**:688–98.

Wong 2003

Wong GC, Giugliano RP, Antman EM. Use of lowmolecular-weight heparins in the management of acute coronary artery syndromes and percutaneous coronary intervention. *Journal of the American Medical Association* 2003;**289**:331–42.

* Indicates the major publication for the study

CHARACTERISTICS OF STUDIES

Characteristics of included studies [ordered by study ID]

Cohen 1990

| Methods | Prospective, randomized, multicentre trial. | | | |
|-------------------------|--|---|--|--|
| Participants | Patients between 21 and 75 years with unstab 48 hours of screening | le angina or non-Q-wave MI with last episode of pain within | | |
| Interventions | Therapy for 12 weeks (3-4 days with UFH). Group 1: ASA 325 mg/d; Group 2: UFH 100 IU/kg iv then infusion to maintain aPTT 2-3 x control for 3-4 days. Warfarin started to INR 3.0-4.5 and UFH discontinued; Group 3: ASA 325 mg/d + UFH 100 IU/kg iv then infusion to maintain aPTT 2-3 x control for 3-4 days. Warfarin started to INR 3.0-4.5 and UFH discontinued | | | |
| Outcomes | Outcomes at 12 weeks. | | | |
| Notes | ASA vs ASA + UFH/warfarin. Use data from group 1 and 3 only. | | | |
| Risk of bias | | | | |
| Item | Authors' judgement | Description | | |
| Allocation concealment? | Unclear B - Unclear | | | |
| Cohen 1994 | | | | |

| Methods | Prospective, randomized, multicentre trial. | | | | |
|-------------------------|---|--|--|--|--|
| Participants | Patients over 21 years with unstable angina of randomization | or non-Q-wave MI with last episode of pain within 48 hours | | | |
| Interventions | Therapy for 12 weeks (3-4 days with UFH) . Group 1: ASA 162.5 mg/d; Group 2: ASA 162.5 mg/d + UFH 100 IU/kg bolus iv then infusion. Warfarin to be started on day 3 or 4 to maintain INR 2 to 3 | | | | |
| Outcomes | Outcomes at hospital discharge and every 3 weeks until 12 weeks | | | | |
| Notes | ASA vs ASA + UFH/warfarin. | | | | |
| Risk of bias | | | | | |
| Item | Authors' judgement Description | | | | |
| Allocation concealment? | Unclear B - Unclear | | | | |

Heparin versus placebo for acute coronary syndromes (Review)

Copyright © 2010 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

| Doucet 2000 | | | | | |
|-------------------------|---|--|--|--|--|
| Methods | Prospective, 2x2 factorial double-blind, placebo-cor | trolled, randomized trial | | | |
| Participants | All patients with unstable angina within 2 weeks to 24 hours of randomization | 6 months after coronary angioplasty occuring within | | | |
| Interventions | Therapy started within 24 hrs. Therapy for 48-96 iv NTG + placebo UFH; Group 2: placebo + iv UF placebo | hours. All grougps receive ASA 325 mg/d. Group 1: H; Group 3: iv NTG + iv UFH; Group 4: placebo + | | | |
| Outcomes | Outcomes at 58-96 hours. Death, MI, recurrent an | gina, bleeding complications | | | |
| Notes | Unstable angina defined by symptoms and ECG of confirmation by 2 cardiologists. For this review, grouges | changes. In abscence of ECG changes, independent ups 1+4 and 2+3 were combined to make two separate | | | |
| Risk of bias | | | | | |
| Item | Authors' judgement | Description | | | |
| Allocation concealment? | Yes A - Adequate | | | | |
| FRISC 1996 | | | | | |
| Methods | Prosepective, multicentre, double-blind, randomized | d, placebo-controlled, parallel-group trial | | | |
| Participants | All men over 40 years and women at least 1 year at within the previous 72 hours | fter menopause admitted to hospital with chest pain | | | |
| Interventions | Therapy started within 72 hours. Group 1: dalteparin 120 IU/kg sc bid x 6 days. Group 2: placebo. All patients recieved ASA 300 mg then 75 mg OD, beta-blocker and/or calcium channel blockers/nitrates | | | | |
| Outcomes | Acute phase: 5-8 days in hospital. Home treatment phase: 35-45 days. Outcomes included death, MI, recurrent angina, urgent revascularization, major/minor heomorrhage, and thrombocytopenia | | | | |
| Notes | Only use data from first 6 days (exclude home LMV | WH therapy). | | | |
| Risk of bias | | | | | |
| Item | Authors' judgement | Description | | | |
| Allocation concealment? | Yes A - Adequate | | | | |

| Gurfinkel 1995 | | | | | |
|-------------------------|---|--|--|--|--|
| Methods | Prospective, randomized, single-blind trial. | Prospective, randomized, single-blind trial. | | | |
| Participants | All patients greater than 21 years with ustabl | e angina within 24 hours of randomization | | | |
| Interventions | Therapy for 5-7 days. Group 1: ASA 200 mg IU iv then 400 IU/kg/d; Group 3: ASA + na | z/d + UFH placebo; Group 2: ASA 200 mg/d + UFH 5000 droparin 214[UIC]/kg anti-Xa sc bid + UFH placebo | | | |
| Outcomes | Over 5 to 7 days. Death, MI, recurrent ang heomorrhage, and thrombocytopenia | ina, urgent revascularization, silent ischemia, major/minor | | | |
| Notes | Split control group. | | | | |
| Risk of bias | | | | | |
| Item | Authors' judgement | Description | | | |
| Allocation concealment? | Unclear | B - Unclear | | | |
| Holdright 1994 | | | | | |
| Methods | Prospective, randomized, single-blind multicentre trial. | | | | |
| Participants | All patients 30 to 75 years with a diagnosis of unstable angina | | | | |
| Interventions | Therapy for 2 days started within 24 hours of chest pain. Group1: ASA 150 mg/d; Group 2: ASA 150 mg/d + UFH 5000 IU iv then infusion to maintain aPTT 1.5-2.5 x baseline | | | | |
| Outcomes | Outcomes over the duration of the hospital a | admission. | | | |
| Notes | | | | | |
| Risk of bias | | | | | |
| Item | Authors' judgement | Description | | | |
| Allocation concealment? | Unclear | B - Unclear | | | |
| RISC 1990 | | | | | |
| Methods | Prosepective, randomized, double blind, plac | ebo-controlled multicentre trial | | | |
| Participants | All men below 70 yrs with symptoms suggesting unstable CAD. | | | | |
| Interventions | Therapy for 5 days . Randomised to treatment up to 72 hours after admission. Group 1: ASA placebo + UFH placebo; Group 2: ASA placebo + UFH 5000 IU iv qid x 1 day then UFH 3750 IU iv qid x 4 days; Group 3: ASA 75 mg/d + UFH placebo; Group 4: ASA 75 mg/d + UFH 5000 IU iv qid x 1 day then UFH 3750 IU iv qid x 4 days | | | | |

| Outcomes | Outcomes at 5 days, 30 days and 90 days. | | | | |
|-------------------------|---|--|-------------|--|--|
| Notes | Only use data from groups 3 and 4. | | | | |
| Risk of bias | | | | | |
| Item | Authors' judgement | | Description | | |
| Allocation concealment? | Unclear | | B - Unclear | | |
| Theroux 1988 | | | | | |
| Methods | Double-blind, randomized trial. | | | | |
| Participants | All patients who were admitted with a diagnosis of unstable angina or who acquired unstable angina while hospitalized. Most recent chest pain within 24 hours of randomization | | | | |
| Interventions | Therapy for ~ 6 days. Group 1: ASA 650 mg then 325 mg bid + placebo bolus and infusion; Group 2: UFH 5000 IU iv then 1000 IU/h + placebo ASA; Group 3: ASA 650 mg then 325 mg bid + UFH 5000 IU iv then 1000 IU/h; Group 4: placebo ASA + placebo UFH | | | | |
| Outcomes | Outcomes at ~ 6 days and 3 months. | | | | |
| Notes | Study was discontinued prematurely on the basis of first interim data analysis. Use only data from Groups 1 and 3 | | | | |
| Risk of bias | | | | | |
| Item | Authors' judgement Description | | | | |
| Allocation concealment? | Yes A - Adequate | | | | |

ASA - aspirin MI - myocardial infarction UFH - unfractionated heparin LMWH - low molecular weight heparin INR - international normalized ratio NTG - nitroglycerin

Characteristics of excluded studies [ordered by study ID]

| Study | Reason for exclusion |
|-----------------|---|
| Averkov 1993 | Not all patients treated with ASA |
| Bodo 1995 | Not a randomized control trial |
| Borja 2000a | Not a randomized control trial |
| Borja 2000b | Not a randomized control trial |
| Borja 2000c | Not a randomized control trial |
| Charvat 1989 | Not all patients treated with ASA |
| Cohen 1993 | Unclear from results to which study group subjects had been randomised. Attempts to communicate with authors unsuccessful |
| Collins 1996 | Not a randomized control trial |
| Correia 1995 | Patients not compared to placebo |
| Emerg Med 1989 | Not a randomized control trial |
| FAMI 2000 | No control group in the acute phase of the study |
| Ferguson 1999 | Not a randomized control trial |
| FRISC II 1999 | Patients randomized greater than 72 hrs after most recent chest pain |
| Fujita 1988 | Not the research question |
| GISSI-2 1990 | Patients had ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction |
| Gorski 1993 | Not a randomized control trial |
| Goy 1999 | Not a randomized control trial |
| Gulba 1992 | Not a randomized control trial |
| Hasselblad 1998 | Not a randomized control trial |
| Huber 1989 | Not all patients treated with ASA |
| Hurtado 1984 | Patients had ST-segment elevation MI |
| Jaffrani 1993 | Not a randomized control trial |

(Continued)

| Kaul 2000 | Not a randomized control trial |
|---------------------|---|
| Kontny 2001 | Not a randomized control trial |
| Mattioli 1999 | Heparin not compared versus placebo |
| Milonig-Ganner 1989 | Not a randomized control trial |
| Moise 1994 | Not a randomized control trial |
| Montgomery 1995 | Not a randomized control trial |
| Nardelli 1991 | Not a randomized control trial |
| Ocampo 1998 | Heparin not compared versus placebo |
| Oler 1996 | Not a randomized control trial |
| PURSUIT 2001 | Not the study question |
| Raschke 1993 | Not the study question |
| Rubio-Terres 2001 | Not a randomized control trial |
| Sayen 1982 | Not a randomized control trial |
| Serneri 1988 | Outpatient setting |
| Serneri 1990 | Not all patients treated with ASA; only inpatients were admitted into the study |
| Serneri 1995 | Not all patients treated with ASA |
| Spodick 1989 | Not a randomized control trial |
| TETAMI 2000 | Not a randomized control trial |
| Theroux 1993 | Not all patients treated with ASA |
| Thieuleux 1985 | Not a randomized control trial |
| Umans 1997 | Not a randomized control trial |
| Violaris 1991 | Not a randomized control trial |
| Wallentin 1997 | Not a randomized control trial |
| Wallis 1991 | Not a randomized control trial |

ASA - aspirin

DATA AND ANALYSES

| Outcome or subgroup title | No. of studies | No. of participants | Statistical method | Effect size |
|---------------------------|-------------------|------------------------|---------------------------------|-------------------|
| 1 Heparin + ASA vs ASA | 6 | 2426 | Risk Ratio (M-H, Fixed, 95% CI) | 0.84 [0.36, 1.98] |
| 1.1 LMWH | 2 | 1602 | Risk Ratio (M-H, Fixed, 95% CI) | 0.89 [0.33, 2.45] |
| 1.2 UFH | 3 | 541 | Risk Ratio (M-H, Fixed, 95% CI) | 0.33 [0.01, 8.04] |
| 1.3 UFH + warfarin | 2 | 283 | Risk Ratio (M-H, Fixed, 95% CI) | 1.04 [0.15, 7.24] |

Comparison 1. Incidence of death over all time periods

Comparison 2. Incidence of MI over all time periods

| Outcome or subgroup title | No. of studies | No. of participants | Statistical method | Effect size |
|---------------------------|-------------------|------------------------|---------------------------------|-------------------|
| 1 Heparin + ASA vs ASA | 6 | 2426 | Risk Ratio (M-H, Fixed, 95% CI) | 0.40 [0.25, 0.63] |
| 1.1 LMWH | 2 | 1602 | Risk Ratio (M-H, Fixed, 95% CI) | 0.28 [0.14, 0.55] |
| 1.2 UFH | 3 | 541 | Risk Ratio (M-H, Fixed, 95% CI) | 0.55 [0.23, 1.34] |
| 1.3 UFH + warfarin | 2 | 283 | Risk Ratio (M-H, Fixed, 95% CI) | 0.63 [0.25, 1.62] |

Comparison 3. Incidence of recurrent angina over all time periods

| Outcome or subgroup title | No. of studies | No. of participants | Statistical method | Effect size |
|---------------------------|-------------------|------------------------|----------------------------------|-------------------|
| 1 Heparin + ASA vs ASA | 6 | 2426 | Risk Ratio (M-H, Random, 95% CI) | 0.81 [0.60, 1.09] |
| 1.1 LMWH | 2 | 1602 | Risk Ratio (M-H, Random, 95% CI) | 0.52 [0.36, 0.74] |
| 1.2 UFH | 3 | 541 | Risk Ratio (M-H, Random, 95% CI) | 0.99 [0.78, 1.24] |
| 1.3 UFH + warfarin | 2 | 283 | Risk Ratio (M-H, Random, 95% CI) | 0.92 [0.45, 1.87] |

Comparison 4. Incidence of revascularization procedures over all time periods

| Outcome or subgroup title | No. of studies | No. of participants | Statistical method | Effect size |
|---------------------------|-------------------|------------------------|---------------------------------|-------------------|
| 1 Heparin + ASA vs ASA | 6 | 2520 | Risk Ratio (M-H, Fixed, 95% CI) | 0.93 [0.76, 1.15] |
| 1.1 LMWH | 2 | 1602 | Risk Ratio (M-H, Fixed, 95% CI) | 0.26 [0.09, 0.78] |
| 1.2 UFH | 3 | 635 | Risk Ratio (M-H, Fixed, 95% CI) | 0.98 [0.76, 1.25] |
| 1.3 UFH + warfarin | 2 | 283 | Risk Ratio (M-H, Fixed, 95% CI) | 1.14 [0.75, 1.74] |

Heparin versus placebo for acute coronary syndromes (Review)

Copyright © 2010 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

| <u>^</u> | • | _ | T • 1 | (| • • | . • 1 | 1 | • | /1 1 | | 1. 1 | • • | · · · | 11 | . • | • 1 |
|--|-------|------------|-------|---------|-----|-------|-------|--------|--------|------|----------|-----|----------|----------|------|---------|
| Compa | rison | ٦. | Incid | ence of | mul | tipl | e end | points | (death | or m | vocardia | int | arction) | over all | time | periods |
| ~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ | | <i>_</i> . | | | | | | P 0 | (| ~ … | , | | | | | P |

| Outcome or subgroup title | No. of studies | No. of participants | Statistical method | Effect size |
|---------------------------|-------------------|------------------------|---------------------------------|-------------------|
| 1 Heparin + ASA vs ASA | 8 | 3110 | Risk Ratio (M-H, Fixed, 95% CI) | 0.61 [0.47, 0.80] |
| 1.1 LMWH | 2 | 1602 | Risk Ratio (M-H, Fixed, 95% CI) | 0.34 [0.18, 0.61] |
| 1.2 UFH | 5 | 1225 | Risk Ratio (M-H, Fixed, 95% CI) | 0.80 [0.58, 1.08] |
| 1.3 UFH + warfarin | 2 | 283 | Risk Ratio (M-H, Fixed, 95% CI) | 0.43 [0.15, 1.28] |

Comparison 6. Incidence of major bleeds over all time periods

| Outcome or subgroup title | No. of studies | No. of participants | Statistical method | Effect size |
|---------------------------|-------------------|------------------------|---------------------------------|---------------------|
| 1 Heparin + ASA vs ASA | 8 | 3118 | Risk Ratio (M-H, Fixed, 95% CI) | 2.05 [0.91, 4.60] |
| 1.1 LMWH | 2 | 1610 | Risk Ratio (M-H, Fixed, 95% CI) | 1.53 [0.43, 5.39] |
| 1.2 UFH | 5 | 1225 | Risk Ratio (M-H, Fixed, 95% CI) | 1.92 [0.59, 6.26] |
| 1.3 UFH + warfarin | 2 | 283 | Risk Ratio (M-H, Fixed, 95% CI) | 7.26 [0.38, 138.95] |

Comparison 7. Incidence of minor bleeds over all time periods

| Outcome or subgroup title | No. of studies | No. of participants | Statistical method | Effect size |
|---------------------------|-------------------|------------------------|----------------------------------|----------------------|
| 1 Heparin + ASA vs ASA | 3 | 1931 | Risk Ratio (M-H, Random, 95% CI) | 6.80 [1.23, 37.49] |
| 1.1 LMWH | 2 | 1610 | Risk Ratio (M-H, Random, 95% CI) | 9.96 [0.56, 177.08] |
| 1.2 UFH | 1 | 107 | Risk Ratio (M-H, Random, 95% CI) | 11.24 [0.68, 186.60] |
| 1.3 UFH + warfarin | 1 | 214 | Risk Ratio (M-H, Random, 95% CI) | 2.42 [0.64, 9.12] |

Comparison 8. Incidence of thrombocytopenia over all time periods

| Outcome or subgroup title | No. of studies | No. of participants | Statistical method | Effect size |
|---------------------------|-------------------|------------------------|----------------------------------|-------------------|
| 1 Heparin + ASA vs ASA | 2 | 1717 | Risk Ratio (M-H, Random, 95% CI) | 0.20 [0.01, 4.24] |
| 1.1 LMWH | 2 | 1610 | Risk Ratio (M-H, Random, 95% CI) | 0.20 [0.01, 4.24] |
| 1.2 UFH | 1 | 107 | Risk Ratio (M-H, Random, 95% CI) | Not estimable |
| 1.3 UFH + warfarin | 0 | 0 | Risk Ratio (M-H, Random, 95% CI) | Not estimable |

Heparin versus placebo for acute coronary syndromes (Review)

Copyright © 2010 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

Analysis I.I. Comparison I Incidence of death over all time periods, Outcome I Heparin + ASA vs ASA.

Review: Heparin versus placebo for acute coronary syndromes

Comparison: I Incidence of death over all time periods

Outcome: I Heparin + ASA vs ASA

| Study or subgroup | Any heparin + ASA | ASA | Risk Ratio | Risk Ratio |
|--|---------------------------------|-------|-------------------|---------------------|
| | n/N | n/N | M-H,Fixed,95% Cl | M-H,Fixed,95% Cl |
| I LMWH | | | | |
| FRISC 1996 | 7/741 | 8/757 | | 0.89 [0.33, 2.45] |
| Gurfinkel 1995 | 0/68 | 0/36 | | 0.0 [0.0, 0.0] |
| Subtotal (95% CI) | 809 | 793 | + | 0.89 [0.33, 2.45] |
| Total events: 7 (Any heparin + | ASA), 8 (ASA) | | | |
| Heterogeneity: $Chi^2 = 0.0$, df = | = 0 (P = 1.00); $I^2 = 0.0\%$ | | | |
| Test for overall effect: $Z = 0.22$ | 2 (P = 0.83) | | | |
| 2 UFH | | | | |
| Doucet 2000 | 0/95 | 0/96 | | 0.0 [0.0, 0.0] |
| Gurfinkel 1995 | 0/70 | 0/37 | | 0.0 [0.0, 0.0] |
| Theroux 1988 | 0/122 | 1/121 | | 0.33 [0.01, 8.04] |
| Subtotal (95% CI) | 287 | 254 | | 0.33 [0.01, 8.04] |
| Total events: 0 (Any heparin + | ASA), I (ASA) | | | |
| Heterogeneity: $Chi^2 = 0.0$, df = | = 0 (P = 1.00); $I^2 = 0.0\%$ | | | |
| Test for overall effect: $Z = 0.68$ | 8 (P = 0.50) | | | |
| 3 UFH + warfarin | | | | |
| Cohen 1990 | 0/37 | 0/32 | | 0.0 [0.0, 0.0] |
| Cohen 1994 | 2/105 | 2/109 | | 1.04 [0.15, 7.24] |
| Subtotal (95% CI) | 142 | 141 | | 1.04 [0.15, 7.24] |
| Total events: 2 (Any heparin + | ASA), 2 (ASA) | | | |
| Heterogeneity: $Chi^2 = 0.0$, df = | $= 0 (P = 1.00); I^2 = 0.0\%$ | | | |
| Test for overall effect: $Z = 0.04$ | 4 (P = 0.97) | | | |
| Total (95% CI) | 1238 | 1188 | • | 0.84 [0.36, 1.98] |
| Total events: 9 (Any heparin + | ASA), II (ASA) | | | |
| Heterogeneity: Chi ² = 0.39, df | $f = 2 (P = 0.82); I^2 = 0.0\%$ | | | |
| lest for overall effect: $\angle = 0.3$ | $\theta (P = 0.70)$ | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | 0.01 0.1 [10 100 | |

Favours treatment

Favours control

Analysis 2.1. Comparison 2 Incidence of MI over all time periods, Outcome I Heparin + ASA vs ASA.

Review: Heparin versus placebo for acute coronary syndromes

Comparison: 2 Incidence of MI over all time periods

Outcome: I Heparin + ASA vs ASA

| Study or subgroup | Any heparin + ASA | ASA | Risk Ratio | Risk Ratio |
|---|---------------------------------|--------|---------------------------------------|---------------------|
| | n/N | n/N | M-H,Fixed,95% Cl | M-H,Fixed,95% CI |
| I LMWH | | | | |
| FRISC 1996 | 10/741 | 33/757 | - | 0.31 [0.15, 0.62] |
| Gurfinkel 1995 | 0/68 | 3/36 | · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · | 0.08 [0.00, 1.44] |
| Subtotal (95% CI) | 809 | 793 | • | 0.28 [0.14, 0.55] |
| Total events: 10 (Any heparin | + ASA), 36 (ASA) | | | |
| Heterogeneity: $Chi^2 = 0.83$, df | $f = 1 (P = 0.36); I^2 = 0.0\%$ | | | |
| Test for overall effect: $Z = 3.70$ | P = 0.00021 | | | |
| 2 UFH | | | | |
| Doucet 2000 | 0/95 | 0/96 | | 0.0 [0.0, 0.0] |
| Gurfinkel 1995 | 4/70 | 4/37 | | 0.53 [0.14, 1.99] |
| Theroux 1988 | 4/122 | 7/121 | | 0.57 [0.17, 1.89] |
| Subtotal (95% CI) | 287 | 254 | • | 0.55 [0.23, 1.34] |
| Total events: 8 (Any heparin + | ASA), II (ASA) | | | |
| Heterogeneity: $Chi^2 = 0.01$, df | $f = 1 (P = 0.94); I^2 = 0.0\%$ | | | |
| Test for overall effect: $Z = 1.3$ | I (P = 0.19) | | | |
| 3 UFH + warfarin | | | | |
| Cohen 1990 | 0/37 | 1/32 | | 0.29 [0.01, 6.87] |
| Cohen 1994 | 6/105 | 9/109 | | 0.69 [0.26, 1.88] |
| Subtotal (95% CI) | 142 | 141 | - | 0.63 [0.25, 1.62] |
| Total events: 6 (Any heparin + | ASA), IO (ASA) | | | |
| Heterogeneity: $Chi^2 = 0.27$, df | $f = (P = 0.6); ^2 = 0.0\%$ | | | |
| Test for overall effect: $Z = 0.96$ | 6 (P = 0.34) | | _ | |
| Total (95% CI) | 1238 | 1188 | • | 0.40 [0.25, 0.63] |
| Iotal events: 24 (Any heparin $\frac{1}{2}$ | + ASA, 57 (ASA) | | | |
| Heterogeneity: $Cn^2 = 3.44$, di | P = 5 (P = 0.63); P = 0.0% | | | |
| iest ior overall effect. Z = 3.73 | (1 - 0.00000) | | | |
| | | | 0.01 0.1 1 10 100 | |

Favours treatment

Favours control

Analysis 3.1. Comparison 3 Incidence of recurrent angina over all time periods, Outcome I Heparin + ASA vs ASA.

Review: Heparin versus placebo for acute coronary syndromes

Comparison: 3 Incidence of recurrent angina over all time periods

Outcome: I Heparin + ASA vs ASA

| HRandom,95% HRandom,95% HRandom,95% I LMWH RRSC 1996 28/741 58/757 I.5.6 % 0.49 [0.32, 0.2] Gurfinkel 1995 14/68 13/36 II.4 % 0.57 [0.30, 1.4] 0.56 % 0.49 [0.32, 0.2] Subtocal (95% CI) 809 793 • 27.0 % 0.52 [0.36, 0.7] Total events: 42 (Any heparin + ASA), 71 (ASA) Heterogeneity, Tau ² = 0.00, Chi ² = 0.14, df = 1 (P = 0.71); P = 0.0% P 20.5 % 1.01 [0.80, 1.2] Test for overall effect: Z = 3.58 (P = 0.00035) 2 UFH 0.64 [0.34, 1.2] 0.41 [0.41 [0.80, 1.2] Gurfinkel 1995 31/70 14/37 14.5 % 1.17 [0.72, 1.5] Theroux 1988 13/122 20/121 11.1 % 0.64 [0.34, 1.2] Subtocal (95% CI) 287 254 46.1 % 0.99 [0.78, 1.2] Total events: 100 (Any heparin + ASA), 36 (ASA) Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.01; Chi ² = 2.22, df = 2 (P = 0.33); I ² = 10% 15.9 % 1.24 [0.81, 1.5] Subtocal (95% CI) 142 141 26.8 % 0.92 [0.45, 1.8] Total events: 135 (Any heparin + ASA), 36 | Study or subgroup | Any heparin + ASA | ASA | Risk Ratio | Weight | Risk Ratio |
|---|---|--|-------------------------|--|---------|---------------------|
| I LMWH FRSC 1996 $28/741$ $58/757$ I.5.6 % $0.49 [0.32, 0.2]$ Gurfinkel 1995 14/68 13/36 II.4 % $0.57 [0.30, 1.4]$ Subtocal (95% CI) 809 793 700 $0.52 [0.36, 0.7]$ Total events: 42 (Any heparin + ASA), 71 (ASA) Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.0; Chi ² = 0.14, df = 1 (P = 0.71); P = 0.0% 700 700 $0.52 [0.36, 0.7]$ Total events: 42 (Any heparin + ASA), 71 (ASA) Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.0; Chi ² = 0.00035) 20.5 % 1.01 [0.80, 1.2] 2 UFH Doucet 2000 56/95 56/96 20.5 % 1.01 [0.80, 1.2] Gurfinkel 1995 31/70 14/37 14.5 % 1.17 [0.72, 1.5] Theroux 1988 13/122 20/121 11.1 % 0.64 [0.34, 1.2] Subtocal (95% CI) 287 254 46.1 % 0.99 [0.78, 1.2] Total events: 100 (Any heparin + ASA), 90 (ASA) Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.01; Chi ² = 2.22, df = 2 (P = 0.33); I ² = 10% 15.9 % 1.24 [0.81, 1.5] Cohen 1990 23/37 16/32 15.9 % 0.24 [0.81, 1.5] Total events: 135 (Any heparin + ASA), 36 (ASA) Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.19; Chi ² = 3.28, df = 1 (P = 0.07); I ² = 70% <th></th> <th>n/N</th> <th>n/N</th> <th>H,Random,95% Cl</th> <th></th> <th>H,Random,959 Cl</th> | | n/N | n/N | H,Random,95% Cl | | H,Random,959 Cl |
| FRISC 1996 $28/741$ $58/757$ IS.6 % $0.49 [0.32, 0.2]$ Gurfinkel 1995 $14/68$ $13/36$ II.4 % $0.57 [0.30, 1.4]$ Subtotal (95% CI) 809 793 27.0 % $0.52 [0.36, 0.7]$ Total events: 42 (Any heparin + ASA), 71 (ASA) Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.0; Ch ² = 0.14, df = 1 (P = 0.71); l ² = 0.0%. Z7.0 % $0.52 [0.36, 0.7]$ Total events: 42 (Any heparin + ASA), 71 (ASA) Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.0; Ch ² = 0.14, df = 1 (P = 0.71); l ² = 0.0%. Z7.0 % $0.52 [0.36, 0.7]$ Gurfinkel 1995 $31/70$ $14/37$ II.1 % $0.64 [0.34, 1.2]$ Gurfinkel 1995 $31/70$ $14/37$ II.1 % $0.64 [0.34, 1.2]$ Subtotal (95% CI) 287 254 46.1 % $0.99 [0.78, 1.2]$ Total events: 100 (Any heparin + ASA), 90 (ASA) Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.01; Ch ² = 2.22, df = 2 (P = 0.33); l ² = 10%. II.1 % $0.64 [0.34, 1.2]$ Subtotal (95% CI) 142 141 26.8 % $0.92 [0.45, 1.8]$ Total events: 33 (Any heparin + ASA), 36 (ASA) Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.19; Ch ² = 3.28, df = 1 (P = 0.07); l ² = 70%. II.8 % II.00.0 % $0.81 [0.60, 1.0]$ II.00.0 % $0.81 [0.60, 1.0]$ | I LMWH | | | | | |
| Gurfinkel 1995 14/68 13/36 II.4 % 0.57 [0.30, 1.0] Subtocal (95% CI) 809 793 700 0.52 [0.36, 0.7] Total events: 42 (Any heparin + ASA), 71 (ASA) Intercogeneity: Tau ² = 0.0; Chi ² = 0.14, df = 1 (P = 0.71); l ² = 0.0% 700 <t< td=""><td>FRISC 1996</td><td>28/741</td><td>58/757</td><td>-</td><td>15.6 %</td><td>0.49 [0.32, 0.77]</td></t<> | FRISC 1996 | 28/741 | 58/757 | - | 15.6 % | 0.49 [0.32, 0.77] |
| Subtotal (95% CI) 809 793 27.0 % 0.52 [0.36, 0.7 Total events: 42 (Ary heparin + ASA), 71 (ASA) Heterogeneity. Tau ² = 0.0; Ch ² = 0.14, df = 1 (P = 0.71); P = 0.0% Test for overall effect: Z = 3.58 (P = 0.00035) 2 UFH Doucet 2000 56/95 56/96 20.5 % 1.01 [0.80, 1.2] Gurfinkel 1995 31/70 14/37 14.5 % 1.17 [0.72, 1.3] Theroux 1988 13/122 20/121 11.1 % 0.64 [0.34, 1.2] Subtotal (95% CI) 287 254 46.1 % 0.99 [0.78, 1.2] Total events: 100 (Any heparin + ASA), 90 (ASA) Heterogeneity. Tau ² = 0.01; Ch ² = 222, df = 2 (P = 0.33); P ² = 10% Test for overall effect: Z = 0.11 (P = 0.91) 3 3 UFH + warfarin Cohen 1990 23/37 16/32 15.9 % 1.24 [0.81, 1.5] Cohen 1990 23/37 16/32 10.9 % 0.62 [0.32, 1.2] Subtotal (95% CI) 142 141 26.8 % 0.92 [0.45, 1.8] Total events: 35 (Any heparin + ASA), 36 (ASA) Heterogeneity. Tau ² = 0.19; Ch ² = 32.8; df = 1 (P = 0.01); l ² = 70% 100.0 % 0.81 [0.60, 1.0] Total events: 177 (Any heparin + ASA), 197 (ASA) 100.0 % 0.81 [0.60, 1.0]< | Gurfinkel 1995 | 14/68 | 13/36 | - | 11.4 % | 0.57 [0.30, 1.08] |
| Total events: 42 (Any heparin + ASA), 71 (ASA) Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.0; Ch ² = 0.14, df = 1 (P = 0.71); P = 0.0% Test for overall effect: Z = 3.58 (P = 0.00035) 2 UFH Doucet 2000 56/95 Gurfinkel 1995 31/70 14/37 14.5 % Theroux 1988 13/122 20/L 11.1 % Subtotal (95% CI) 287 254 46.1 % Total events: 100 (Any heparin + ASA), 90 (ASA) Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.01; Chi ² = 2.22, df = 2 (P = 0.33); l ² = 10% Test for overall effect: Z = 0.11 (P = 0.91) 3 UFH + warfarin Cohen 1990 23/37 16/32 15.9 % Cohen 1990 23/37 16/32 15.9 % Subtotal (95% CI) 142 142 141 Total events: 35 (Any heparin + ASA), 36 (ASA) Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.19; Chi ² = 3.28, df = 1 (P = 0.07); l ² = 70% Test for overall effect: Z = 0.23 (P = 0.82) Total events: 177 (Any heparin + ASA), 197 (ASA) Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.10; Chi ² = 17.16, df = 6 (P = 0.01); l ² = 65% Test for overall effect: Z = 1.41 (P = 0.16) <td>Subtotal (95% CI)</td> <td>809</td> <td>793</td> <td>•</td> <td>27.0 %</td> <td>0.52 [0.36, 0.74]</td> | Subtotal (95% CI) | 809 | 793 | • | 27.0 % | 0.52 [0.36, 0.74] |
| 2 OPH Doucet 2000 56/95 56/96 20.5 % 1.01 [0.80, 1.2 Gurfinkel 1995 31/70 14/37 14.5 % 1.17 [0.72, 1.5] Theroux 1988 13/122 20/121 11.1 % 0.64 [0.34, 1.2] Subtotal (95% CI) 287 254 46.1 % 0.99 [0.78, 1.2] Total events: 100 (Any heparin + ASA), 90 (ASA) Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.01; Chi ² = 2.22, df = 2 (P = 0.33); l ² = 10% 15.9 % 1.24 [0.81, 1.5] Test for overall effect: Z = 0.11 (P = 0.91) 3 UFH + warfarin 15.9 % 1.24 [0.81, 1.5] Cohen 1990 23/37 16/32 15.9 % 1.24 [0.81, 1.5] Cohen 1994 12/105 20/109 10.9 % 0.62 [0.32, 1.2] Subtotal (95% CI) 142 141 26.8 % 0.92 [0.45, 1.8] Total events: 35 (Any heparin + ASA), 36 (ASA) Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.19; Chi ² = 3.28, df = 1 (P = 0.07); l ² = 70% 100.0 % 0.81 [0.60, 1.0] Total (95% CI) 1238 1188 100.0 % 0.81 [0.60, 1.0] Total events: 177 (Any heparin + ASA), 197 (ASA) 100.0 % 0.81 [0.60, 1.0] Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.10; Chi ² = 17.16, df = 6 (P = 0.01); l ² = 6 | Total events: 42 (Any hepar Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.0; Test for overall effect: $Z = 3$ | in + ASA), 71 (ASA) Chi ² = 0.14, df = 1 (P = 0.71); 8.58 (P = 0.00035) | I ² =0.0% | | | |
| Gurfinkel 1995 $31/70$ $14/37$ 14.5% $1.17 [0.72, 1.5]$ Theroux 1988 $13/122$ $20/121$ 11.1% $0.64 [0.34, 1.5]$ Subtotal (95% CI) 287 254 46.1% $0.99 [0.78, 1.2]$ Total events: 100 (Any heparin + ASA), 90 (ASA) Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.01; Chi ² = 2.22, df = 2 (P = 0.33); l ² = 10% 15.9% $1.24 [0.81, 1.5]$ Subtotal (95% CI) $23/37$ $16/32$ 15.9% $1.24 [0.81, 1.5]$ Cohen 1990 $23/37$ $16/32$ 10.9% $0.62 [0.32, 1.2]$ Subtotal (95% CI) 142 141 26.8% $0.92 [0.45, 1.8]$ Total events: 35 (Any heparin + ASA), 36 (ASA) 10.9% $0.62 [0.32, 1.2]$ 10.9% $0.62 [0.32, 1.2]$ Total events: 35 (Any heparin + ASA), 36 (ASA) 11238 1188 100.0% $0.81 [0.60, 1.0]$ Total events: 177 (Any heparin + ASA), 197 (ASA) 1238 1188 100.0% $0.81 [0.60, 1.0]$ Total events: 177 (Any heparin + ASA), 197 (ASA) 100.0% $0.81 [0.60, 1.0]$ 10.00% $0.81 [0.60, 1.0]$ | Doucet 2000 | 56/95 | 56/96 | + | 20.5 % | 1.01 [0.80, 1.28] |
| Theroux 1988 $13/122$ $20/121$ 11.1% 0.64 [$0.34, 1.2$ Subtotal (95% CI) 287 254 46.1% 0.999 [$0.78, 1.2$ Total events: 100 (Any heparin + ASA), 90 (ASA) 46.1% 0.999 [$0.78, 1.2$ Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.01; Chi ² = 2.22, df = 2 (P = 0.33); l ² = 10% 15.9% 1.24 [$0.81, 1.5$ Subtotal (95% CI) $23/37$ $16/32$ 15.9% 1.24 [$0.81, 1.5$ Cohen 1990 $23/37$ $16/32$ 15.9% 1.24 [$0.81, 1.5$ Subtotal (95% CI) 142 141 0.9% 0.62 [$0.32, 1.2$ Subtotal (95% CI) 142 141 0.9% 0.62 [$0.32, 1.2$ Subtotal (95% CI) 142 141 0.9% 0.62 [$0.32, 1.2$ Subtotal (95% CI) 142 141 0.9% 0.62 [$0.32, 1.2$ Total (95% CI) 1238 1188 100.0% 0.81 [$0.60, 1.0$ Total (95% CI) 1238 1188 100.0% 0.81 [$0.60, 1.0$ Total (95% CI) 1238 1188 100.0% 0.81 [$0.60, 1.0$ 0.81 [$0.60, 1.0$ 0.81 | Gurfinkel 1995 | 31/70 | 14/37 | + | 14.5 % | 1.17 [0.72, 1.91] |
| Subtotal (95% CI) 287 254 Total events: 100 (Any heparin + ASA), 90 (ASA) Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.01; Chi ² = 2.22, df = 2 (P = 0.33); l ² = 10% Test for overall effect: $Z = 0.11 (P = 0.91)$ 3 UFH + warfarin Cohen 1990 23/37 102/105 20/109 109% 0.62 [0.32, 1.2 Cohen 1994 12/105 20/109 Subtotal (95% CI) 142 141 Total events: 35 (Any heparin + ASA), 36 (ASA) 26.8 % 0.92 [0.45, 1.8] Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.19; Chi ² = 3.28, df = 1 (P = 0.07); l ² = 70% 26.8 % 0.92 [0.45, 1.8] Total (95% CI) 1238 1188 100.0 % 0.81 [0.60, 1.0] Total (95% CI) 1238 1188 100.0 % 0.81 [0.60, 1.0] Total (95% CI) 1238 1188 100.0 % 0.81 [0.60, 1.0] Total (95% CI) 1238 188 100.0 % 0.81 [0.60, 1.0] Total (95% CI) 1238 1188 100.0 % 0.81 [0.60, 1.0] Total (95% CI) 1238 100.0 % 0.81 [0.60, 1.0] 10 Total (95% CI) 1238 100.0 % | Theroux 1988 | 13/122 | 20/121 | | 11.1 % | 0.64 [0.34, 1.24] |
| Total events: 100 (Ary heparin + ASA), 90 (ASA) Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.01; Chi ² = 2.22, df = 2 (P = 0.33); l ² = 10% Test for overall effect: $Z = 0.11 (P = 0.91)$ 3 UFH + warfarin Cohen 1990 23/37 16/32 Cohen 1994 12/105 20/109 10.9 % 0.62 [0.32, 1.2 Subtotal (95% CI) 142 141 Total events: 35 (Any heparin + ASA), 36 (ASA) Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.19; Chi ² = 3.28, df = 1 (P = 0.07); l ² = 70% Test for overall effect: $Z = 0.23 (P = 0.82)$ Total (95% CI) 1238 1188 Total events: 177 (Any heparin + ASA), 197 (ASA) Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.10; Chi ² = 17.16, df = 6 (P = 0.01); l ² = 65% Test for overall effect: $Z = 1.41 (P = 0.16)$ | Subtotal (95% CI) | 287 | 254 | • | 46.1 % | 0.99 [0.78, 1.24] |
| Cohen 1994 $12/105$ $20/109$ 10.9% 0.62 [0.32 , 1.2 Subtotal (95% CI) 142 141 26.8% 0.92 [0.45 , 1.8 Total events: 35 (Any heparin + ASA), 36 (ASA) $Heterogeneity: Tau^2 = 0.19; Chi^2 = 3.28, df = 1 (P = 0.07); l^2 = 70\%$ 100.0% 0.81 [$0.60, 1.0$ Total (95% CI) 1238 1188 100.0% 0.81 [$0.60, 1.0$ Total (95% CI) 1238 1188 100.0% 0.81 [$0.60, 1.0$ Total events: 177 (Any heparin + ASA), 197 (ASA) 100.0% 0.81 [$0.60, 1.0$ Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.10; Chi ² = 17.16, df = 6 (P = 0.01); l ² = 65% 100.0% 0.81 [$0.60, 1.0$ Test for overall effect: $Z = 1.41$ (P = 0.16) 100.10% 100.10% 100.10% | Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.01; Test for overall effect: Z = 0 3 UFH + warfarin Cohen 1990 | ; Chi ² = 2.22, df = 2 (P = 0.33)).11 (P = 0.91) 23/37 | 16/32 | - | 15.9 % | 1.24 [0.81, 1.91] |
| Subtotal (95% CI) 142 141 Total events: 35 (Any heparin + ASA), 36 (ASA) Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.19; Chi ² = 3.28, df = 1 (P = 0.07); l ² =70% Test for overall effect: Z = 0.23 (P = 0.82) Total (95% CI) 1238 1238 1188 Total events: 177 (Any heparin + ASA), 197 (ASA) Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.10; Chi ² = 17.16, df = 6 (P = 0.01); l ² =65% Test for overall effect: Z = 1.41 (P = 0.16) | Cohen 1994 | 12/105 | 20/109 | | 10.9 % | 0.62 [0.32, 1.21] |
| Total events: 35 (Any heparin + ASA), 36 (ASA) Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.19; Chi ² = 3.28, df = 1 (P = 0.07); l ² =70% Test for overall effect: Z = 0.23 (P = 0.82) Total (95% CI) 1238 Total (95% CI) 1238 Total events: 177 (Any heparin + ASA), 197 (ASA) Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.10; Chi ² = 17.16, df = 6 (P = 0.01); l ² =65% Test for overall effect: Z = 1.41 (P = 0.16) | Subtotal (95% CI) | 142 | 141 | • | 26.8 % | 0.92 [0.45, 1.87] |
| Total (95% CI) 1238 1188 100.0 % 0.81 [0.60, 1.0 Total events: 177 (Any heparin + ASA), 197 (ASA) • 100.0 % 0.81 [0.60, 1.0 Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.10; Chi ² = 17.16, df = 6 (P = 0.01); l ² = 65% • • • Test for overall effect: Z = 1.41 (P = 0.16) • • • • | Total events: 35 (Any hepar Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.19; Test for overall effect: $Z = 0$ | in + ASA), 36 (ASA) ; Chi ² = 3.28, df = 1 (P = 0.07)).23 (P = 0.82) | $ _{1}^{2} = 70\%$ | | | |
| Total events: 177 (Any heparin + ASA), 197 (ASA) Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.10; Chi ² = 17.16, df = 6 (P = 0.01); l ² = 65% Test for overall effect: $Z = 1.41$ (P = 0.16) | Total (95% CI) | 1238 | 1188 | • | 100.0 % | 0.81 [0.60, 1.09] |
| | Total events: 177 (Any hepa Heterogeneity: $Tau^2 = 0.10$; Test for overall effect: $Z = 1$ | arin + ASA), 197 (ASA) ; Chi ² = 17.16, df = 6 (P = 0.01 .41 (P = 0.16) | I); I ² =65% | | | |
| Favours treatment Favours control | | | | 0.01 0.1 I IO IOO Favours treatment - Favours control | | |
| | | | | | | |

Heparin versus placebo for acute coronary syndromes (Review)

Copyright © 2010 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

Analysis 4.1. Comparison 4 Incidence of revascularization procedures over all time periods, Outcome I Heparin + ASA vs ASA.

Review: Heparin versus placebo for acute coronary syndromes

Comparison: 4 Incidence of revascularization procedures over all time periods

Outcome: I Heparin + ASA vs ASA

| Study or subgroup | Any heparin + ASA | ASA | Risk Ratio | Weight | Risk Ratio |
|----------------------------------|----------------------------------|--------|------------------|---------|---------------------|
| | n/N | n/N | M-H,Fixed,95% Cl | | M-H,Fixed,95% CI |
| I LMWH | | | | | |
| FRISC 1996 | 3/741 | 9/757 | | 7.3 % | 0.34 [0.09, 1.25] |
| Gurfinkel 1995 | 1/68 | 4/36 | | 4.3 % | 0.13[0.02, 1.14] |
| Subtotal (95% CI) | 809 | 793 | • | 11.5 % | 0.26 [0.09, 0.78] |
| Total events: 4 (Any heparin | + ASA), 13 (ASA) | | | | |
| Heterogeneity: $Chi^2 = 0.54$, | df = 1 (P = 0.46); $I^2 = 0.0\%$ | | | | |
| Test for overall effect: $Z = 2$ | .40 (P = 0.017) | | | | |
| 2 UFH Gurfinkel 1995 | 7/70 | 5/37 | | 5.3 % | 0.74 [0.25, 2.17] |
| Holdright 1994 | 19/154 | 15/131 | - | 13.2 % | 1.08 [0.57, 2.03] |
| Theroux 1988 | 56/122 | 57/121 | - | 46.6 % | 0.97 [0.74, 1.28] |
| Subtotal (95% CI) | 346 | 289 | + | 65.2 % | 0.98 [0.76, 1.25] |
| Total events: 82 (Any hepari | in + ASA), 77 (ASA) | | | | |
| Heterogeneity: $Chi^2 = 0.35$, | df = 2 (P = 0.84); $I^2 = 0.0\%$ | | | | |
| Test for overall effect: $Z = 0$ | .19 (P = 0.85) | | | | |
| 3 UFH + warfarin | | | | | |
| Cohen 1990 | 22/37 | 12/32 | | 10.5 % | 1.59 [0.94, 2.67] |
| Cohen 1994 | 12/105 | 16/109 | | 12.8 % | 0.78 [0.39, 1.57] |
| Subtotal (95% CI) | 142 | 141 | + | 23.3 % | 1.14 [0.75, 1.74] |
| Total events: 34 (Any hepari | in + ASA), 28 (ASA) | | | | |
| Heterogeneity: $Chi^2 = 2.68$, | df = $ (P = 0.10); ^2 = 63\%$ | | | | |
| Test for overall effect: $Z = 0$ | .62 (P = 0.54) | 1000 | | | |
| Total (95% CI) | 1297 | 1223 | • | 100.0 % | 0.93 [0.76, 1.15] |
| Iotal events: 120 (Any hepa | rin + ASA, 118 (ASA) | | | | |
| Heterogeneity: $Chi^2 = 10.18$ | $A_{1} = 6 (P = 0.12); P = 41\%$ | | | | |
| iest for overall effect; Z = 0 | (10.0 – 1) co. | | | | |
| | | | 0.01 0.1 10 100 | | |

Favours treatment

Favours control

Heparin versus placebo for acute coronary syndromes (Review)

Copyright © 2010 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

Analysis 5.1. Comparison 5 Incidence of multiple end points (death or myocardial infarction) over all time periods, Outcome I Heparin + ASA vs ASA.

Review: Heparin versus placebo for acute coronary syndromes

Comparison: 5 Incidence of multiple end points (death or myocardial infarction) over all time periods

Outcome: I Heparin + ASA vs ASA

| Study or subgroup | Any heparin + ASA | ASA | Risk Ratio | Risk Ratio |
|---|---------------------------------|--------|-----------------------------------|---------------------|
| | n/N | n/N | M-H,Fixed,95% Cl | M-H,Fixed,95% Cl |
| I LMWH | | | | |
| FRISC 1996 | 3/74 | 36/757 | - | 0.37 [0.20, 0.69] |
| Gurfinkel 1995 | 0/68 | 3/36 | ← | 0.08 [0.00, 1.44] |
| Subtotal (95% CI) | 809 | 793 | • | 0.34 [0.18, 0.61] |
| Total events: 13 (Any heparin | + ASA), 39 (ASA) | | | |
| Heterogeneity: $Chi^2 = 1.06$, df | $f = 1 (P = 0.30); l^2 = 6\%$ | | | |
| Test for overall effect: $Z = 3.55$ | 5 (P = 0.00039) | | | |
| 2 UFH Doucet 2000 | 0/95 | 0/96 | | 100 001 00 |
| Doucer 2000 | 0775 | 0/70 | | 0.0 [0.0, 0.0] |
| Gurfinkel 1995 | 4/70 | 4/37 | | 0.53 [0.14, 1.99] |
| Holdright 1994 | 42/154 | 40/131 | + | 0.89 [0.62, 1.29] |
| RISC 1990 | 12/210 | 14/189 | | 0.77 [0.37, 1.63] |
| Theroux 1988 | 4/122 | 8/121 | | 0.50 [0.15, 1.60] |
| Subtotal (95% CI) | 651 | 574 | • | 0.80 [0.58, 1.08] |
| Total events: 62 (Any heparin | + ASA), 66 (ASA) | | | |
| Heterogeneity: $Chi^2 = 1.38$, df | $f = 3 (P = 0.71); I^2 = 0.0\%$ | | | |
| Test for overall effect: $Z = 1.45$ | 5 (P = 0.15) | | | |
| 3 UFH + warfann | 0/27 | 1/22 | | 000 [001 (07] |
| Cohen 1990 | 0/37 | 1/32 | | 0.27 [0.01, 6.67] |
| Cohen 1994 | 4/105 | 9/109 | | 0.46 [0.15, 1.45] |
| Subtotal (95% CI) | 142 | 141 | - | 0.43 [0.15, 1.28] |
| Total events: 4 (Any heparin + | ASA), 10 (ASA) | | | |
| Heterogeneity: $Chi^2 = 0.07$, df | $f = 1 (P = 0.79); l^2 = 0.0\%$ | | | |
| Test for overall effect: $Z = 1.52$ | 2 (P = 0.13) | 1.500 | | |
| Total (95% CI) | 1602 | 1508 | • | 0.61 [0.47, 0.80] |
| Total events: 79 (Any heparin | + ASA), 115 (ASA) | | | |
| Heterogeneity: $Chr^2 = 9.52$, df | f = 7 (P = 0.22); P = 26% | | | |
| lest for overall effect: $\angle -3.62$ | z (P – 0.00029) | | | |
| | | | 0.01 0.1 10 100 | |
| | | | Favours treatment Favours control | |

Favours control

Analysis 6.1. Comparison 6 Incidence of major bleeds over all time periods, Outcome 1 Heparin + ASA vs ASA.

Review: Heparin versus placebo for acute coronary syndromes

Comparison: 6 Incidence of major bleeds over all time periods

Outcome: I Heparin + ASA vs ASA

| Study or subgroup | Any heparin + ASA n/N | ASA n/N | Risk Ratio M-H,Fixed,95% Cl | Risk Ratio M-H,Fixed,95% CI |
|------------------------------------|---------------------------------|------------|--------------------------------|--------------------------------|
| I LMWH | | | | |
| FRISC 1996 | 6/746 | 4/760 | | 1.53 [0.43, 5.39] |
| Gurfinkel 1995 | 0/68 | 0/36 | | 0.0 [0.0, 0.0] |
| Subtotal (95% CI) | 814 | 796 | - | 1.53 [0.43, 5.39] |
| Total events: 6 (Any heparin + | - ASA), 4 (ASA) | | | |
| Heterogeneity: $Chi^2 = 0.0$, df | $= 0 (P = 1.00); I^2 = 0.0\%$ | | | |
| Test for overall effect: $Z = 0.6$ | 6 (P = 0.51) | | | |
| 2 OFH Doucet 2000 | 1/95 | 0/96 | | 303[0 3 7349] |
| | 0.70 | 0,70 | | 5.65 [6.15, 75.17] |
| Gurfinkel 1995 | 2//0 | 0/37 | | 2.68 [0.13, 54.33] |
| Holdright 1994 | 1/154 | 1/131 | | 0.85 [0.05, 13.47] |
| RISC 1990 | 0/210 | 0/189 | | 0.0 [0.0, 0.0] |
| Theroux 1988 | 4/122 | 2/121 | | 1.98 [0.37, 10.63] |
| Subtotal (95% CI) | 651 | 574 | - | 1.92 [0.59, 6.26] |
| Total events: 8 (Any heparin + | + ASA), 3 (ASA) | | | |
| Heterogeneity: $Chi^2 = 0.46$, d | $f = 3 (P = 0.93); I^2 = 0.0\%$ | | | |
| Test for overall effect: $Z = 1.0$ | 9 (P = 0.28) | | | |
| 3 UFH + wartarin Cohen 1990 | 0/37 | 0/32 | | 100 001 00 |
| | 0/3/ | 0.52 | | 0.0 [0.0, 0.0] |
| Cohen 1994 | 3/105 | 0/109 | | 7.26 [0.38, 38.95] |
| Subtotal (95% CI) | 142 | 141 | | 7.26 [0.38, 138.95] |
| Total events: 3 (Any heparin + | + ASA), 0 (ASA) | | | |
| Heterogeneity: $Chi^2 = 0.0$, df | $= 0 (P = 1.00); I^2 = 0.0\%$ | | | |
| Total (95% CI) | 2 (P = 0.19) 1607 | 1511 | • | 2.05 [0.01 / 60] |
| Total events: 17 (Any heparin | + ASA) 7 (ASA) | 1911 | | 2.09 [0.91, 4.00] |
| Heterogeneity: $Chi^2 = 1.39$, d | $f = 5 (P = 0.93); I^2 = 0.0\%$ | | | |
| Test for overall effect: $Z = 1.7$ | 3 (P = 0.084) | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | 0.01 0.1 1 10 100 | |

Favours treatment Favours control

Analysis 7.1. Comparison 7 Incidence of minor bleeds over all time periods, Outcome 1 Heparin + ASA vs ASA.

Review: Heparin versus placebo for acute coronary syndromes

Comparison: 7 Incidence of minor bleeds over all time periods

Outcome: I Heparin + ASA vs ASA

| Study or subgroup | Any heparin + ASA | ASA | Risk Ratio | Weight | Risk Ratio |
|----------------------------------|--|-----------------------------------|--------------------|---------------|------------------------|
| | n/N | n/N | H,Random,95% Cl | | H,Random,95% CI |
| I LMWH | | | | | |
| FRISC 1996 | 61/746 | 2/760 | _ → | 31.6 % | 31.07 [7.63, 126.61] |
| Gurfinkel 1995 | 1/68 | 0/36 | | 16.8 % | 1.61 [0.07, 38.51] |
| Subtotal (95% CI) | 814 | 796 | | 48.4 % | 9.96 [0.56, 177.08] |
| Total events: 62 (Any hepar | rin + ASA), 2 (ASA) | | | | |
| Heterogeneity: $Tau^2 = 2.99$ | P; $Chi^2 = 2.90$, $df = 1$ (P = 0.09) | 9); I ² =66% | | | |
| Test for overall effect: Z = | 1.57 (P = 0.12) | | | | |
| 2 UFH | | | | | |
| Gurfinkel 1995 | 10/70 | 0/37 | | 19.2 % | .24 [0.68, 86.60] |
| Subtotal (95% CI) | 70 | 37 | | 19.2 % | 11.24 [0.68, 186.60] |
| Total events: 10 (Any hepar | rin + ASA), 0 (ASA) | | | | |
| Heterogeneity: not applicat | ole | | | | |
| Test for overall effect: Z = | 1.69 (P = 0.091) | | | | |
| 3 UFH + warfarin | | | | | |
| Cohen 1994 | 7/105 | 3/109 | | 32.4 % | 2.42 [0.64, 9.12] |
| Subtotal (95% CI) | 105 | 109 | - | 32.4 % | 2.42 [0.64, 9.12] |
| Total events: 7 (Any hepari | n + ASA), 3 (ASA) | | | | |
| Heterogeneity: not applicat | ole | | | | |
| Test for overall effect: Z = | 1.31 (P = 0.19) | | | | |
| Total (95% CI) | 989 | 942 | - | 100.0 % | 6.80 [1.23, 37.49] |
| Total events: 79 (Any hepar | rin + ASA), 5 (ASA) | | | | |
| Heterogeneity: $Tau^2 = 1.89$ | P; $Chi^2 = 9.05$, $df = 3$ (P = 0.03) | 3); $ ^2 = 67\%$ | | | |
| Test for overall effect: $Z = 2$ | 2.20 (P = 0.028) | | | | |
| Test for overall effect: $Z = 2$ | y, Chi ^e – 9.03, at – 3 (P – 0.03 2.20 (P = 0.028) | s); I [−] −67 <i>7</i> 6 | 0.01 0.1 1 10 100 | | |

0.01 0.1

Favours treatment Favours control

Heparin versus placebo for acute coronary syndromes (Review) Copyright © 2010 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

Analysis 8.1. Comparison 8 Incidence of thrombocytopenia over all time periods, Outcome 1 Heparin + ASA vs ASA.

Review: Heparin versus placebo for acute coronary syndromes

Comparison: 8 Incidence of thrombocytopenia over all time periods

Outcome: I Heparin + ASA vs ASA

| Study or subgroup | Any heparin + ASA n/N | ASA n/N | Risk Ratio M- H,Random,95% Cl | Risk Ratio M- H,Random,95% Cl |
|-------------------------------------|--|------------|--|--|
| | | | | |
| FRISC 1996 | 0/746 | 2/760 | | 0.20 [0.01, 4.24] |
| Gurfinkel 1995 | 0/68 | 0/36 | | 0.0 [0.0, 0.0] |
| Subtotal (95% CI) | 814 | 796 | | 0.20 [0.01, 4.24] |
| Total events: 0 (Any heparin + | ASA), 2 (ASA) | | | |
| Heterogeneity: $Tau^2 = 0.0$; Ch | i ² = 0.00, df = 0 (P<0.00001); l ² = 10 | 0% | | |
| Test for overall effect: $Z = 1.03$ | 3 (P = 0.30) | | | |
| 2 UFH | | | | |
| Gurfinkel 1995 | 0/70 | 0/37 | | 0.0 [0.0, 0.0] |
| Subtotal (95% CI) | 70 | 37 | | 0.0 [0.0, 0.0] |
| Total events: 0 (Any heparin + | ASA), 0 (ASA) | | | |
| Heterogeneity: not applicable | | | | |
| Test for overall effect: $Z = 0.0$ | (P < 0.00001) | | | |
| 3 UFH + warfarin | | | | |
| Subtotal (95% CI) | 0 | 0 | | 0.0 [0.0, 0.0] |
| Total events: 0 (Any heparin + | ASA), 0 (ASA) | | | |
| Heterogeneity: not applicable | | | | |
| Test for overall effect: not appl | licable | | | |
| Total (95% CI) | 884 | 833 | | 0.20 [0.01, 4.24] |
| Total events: 0 (Any heparin + | ASA), 2 (ASA) | | | |
| Heterogeneity: $Tau^2 = 0.0$; Ch | $i^2 = 0.00$, df = 0 (P<0.00001); $I^2 = IC$ | 00% | | |
| Test for overall effect: $Z = 1.03$ | 3 (P = 0.30) | | | |
| | | | | |
| | | | 0.01 0.1 1 10 100 | |

Favours control

Favours treatment

FEEDBACK

From David Cundiff, 28 August 2008

Summary

I thank Drs. Magee, Moher, and Rowe for completing the review.

The phenomenon of reactivation of unstable angina after the discontinuation of heparin has been described by Theroux.¹ Even when aspirin is added to heparin in patients with unstable angina, the benefit of the heparin in preventing MIs ceases after the infusion. ²⁻⁵ Rebound hypercoagulability with reactivation of angina and/or MI has not been ruled out with LMWH. If overall mortality is improved with heparins, despite the rebound hypercoagulability and reactivation of unstable angina problem and the serious bleeding risk, then using one of these drugs would be justified. However, if heparin use merely delays MIs until the withdrawal period without reducing mortality, then the additional bleeding risk would move the risk-benefit analysis toward an assessment of net harm. Over 60% of the subjects in the 8 RCTs in this meta-analysis came from the FRISC study using dalteparin published in 1995. This RCT contains 94% of the subjects receiving LMWHs. The conclusions of this review depend entirely on this RCT. The ACC/AHA 2007 Guideline for the Management of Patients With Unstable Angina/Non-ST-Elevation Myocardial Infarction states, "Dalteparin was evaluated for management of patients with UA/NSTEMI in an era before the widespread use of important therapies such as stents, clopidogrel, and GP IIb/IIIa inhibitors. Its relative efficacy and safety in the contemporary management era is not well established."6 In the FRISC trial, dalteparin 120 IU / kg q12 hours was given the first 6 days and then 7500 IU qd for the next 35-40 days. The incidence of death or MI in the first 6 days strongly favored dalteparin over placebo (13/743 versus 36/759, p < 0.001). However, the event rate of deaths or MIs from days 7-14 after the reduction in dalteparin dose non significantly favored placebo (13/724 versus 7/ 721, p = 0.19), suggesting a rebound effect. At 42 days into the trial just before the maintenance dose of dalteparin was stopped, the combined endpoint of deaths and MIs only marginally favored anticoagulation (p = 0.07). At 6 months, the only data point after the dalteparin was discontinued, there was no significant difference in the combined death and MI endpoint (placebo: 116/749 versus dalteparin: 102/726, p = 0.41). Deaths were not significantly different (placebo: 41/749 versus dalteparin: 39/726). Two questions arise: (1) Are any short term benefits are off-set by later excess mortality? and (2) Are the major and fatal bleeding risks of heparins more than off-set by a significant reduction in mortality? The answer to both questions is "no." However, the short term benefit of deferring MIs until immediately after discontinuation of anticoagulation cannot justify the risk of heparins. According to a meta-analysis by Landefeld and colleagues, "The average daily frequencies of fatal, major, and major or minor bleeding during heparin therapy were 0.05%, 0.8%, and 2.0%, respectively; these frequencies are approximately twice those expected without heparin therapy."⁷ For each 1 million people with ACS treated with 10-day courses of heparins, the anticoagulant would cause 2500 bleeding deaths and 40,000 major bleeds.

In conclusion, since injectable anticoagulants do not reduce either early or late mortality in acute coronary syndrome and merely delay heart attacks until immediately after the infusion, the risk of major, permanently disabling, and fatal bleeding (much greater now than when these studies were done) is not justified.

References

1. Theroux P, Waters D, Lam J, Juneau M, McCans J. Reactivation of unstable angina after the discontinuation of heparin. *N Engl J Med.* July 16, 1992;327(3):141-145.

2. Theroux P, Ouimet H, McCans J, et al. Aspirin, heparin, or both to treat acute unstable angina. *New England Journal of Medicine*. 1988;319:1105-1111.

3. Cohen M, Adams P, Parry G, et al. Combination antithrombotic therapy in unstable rest angina and non-Q- wave infarction in nonprior aspirin users. Primary end points analysis from the ATACS trial. Antithrombotic Therapy in Acute Coronary Syndromes Research Group. *Circulation.* January 1, 1994;89(1):81-88.

4. Risk of myocardial infarction and death during treatment with low-dose aspirin and intravenous heparin in men with unstable coronary artery disease. The RISC Group. *Lancet.* 1990;336:830-837.

5. Theroux P WD, Qiu S, McCans J, de Guise P, Juneau M. Aspirin versus heparin to prevent myocardial infarction during the acute phase of unstable angina. *Circulation*. November 1, 1993;88(5):2045-2048.

6. Anderson JL AC, Antman EM, Bridges CR, Califf RM, Casey DE Jr, Chavey WE 2nd, Fesmire FM, Hochman JS, Levin TN, Lincoff AM, Peterson ED, Theroux P, Wenger NK, Wright RS, Smith SC Jr, Jacobs AK, Adams CD, Anderson JL, Antman EM, Halperin JL, Hunt SA, Krumholz HM, Kushner FG, Lytle BW, Nishimura R, Ornato JP, Page RL, Riegel B;. ACC/AHA 2007 Guidelines for the Management of Patients With Unstable Angina/Non-ST-Elevation Myocardial Infarction: A Report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines (Writing Committee to Revise the 2002 Guidelines for the Management of Patients With Unstable Angina/Non-ST-Elevation Myocardial Infarction) Developed in

Collaboration with the American College of Emergency Physicians, the Society for Cardiovascular Angiography and Interventions, and the Society of Thoracic Surgeons Endorsed by the American Association of Cardiovascular and Pulmonary Rehabilitation and the Society for Academic Emergency Medicine. 10.1016/j.jacc.2007.02.013. *J Am Coll Cardiol*. August 14, 2007;50(7):e1-157.

7. Landefeld CS, Beyth RJ. Anticoagulant-related bleeding: clinical epidemiology, prediction, and prevention. *American Journal of Medicine*. 1993;95(3):315-328.

Reply

Our research team would like to thank Dr. Cundiff for his comments on our review.

Dr. Cundiff contends that the short term benefits of heparin are not offset by later mortality and morbidity; however, we disagree. While studies included in this review reported outcome data restricted to the acute phase of interventions, nearly 17% of enrolled subjects had outcomes reported at 3 months. Dr. Cundiff is correct in pointing out that the majority of subjects in this systematic review came from the FRISC study; however, the number is in fact 48% (1498/3110) and not over 60% as he has suggested. While this systematic review was underpowered to detect a treatment difference in rare outcomes such as mortality between heparins and placebo, it did demonstrate that heparins reduced the incidence of myocardial infarction with a NNT of 33. Although there was a trend towards more major bleeds in the heparin group, this was non-significant with an actual risk difference of 0.6% between subjects treated with heparins and placebo over the course of the treatment in included studies.

We stand by our assertion that heparins appear to be a safe and effective treatment for acute coronary syndromes. Head-to-head comparisons of low molecular weight heparins with unfractionated heparin suggest that LMWHs have a decreased risk of myocardial infarction, the need for urgent revascularization and thrombocytopenia.¹ Finally, this is concordant with the most recent ACC/AHA Guidelines.²

References

1. Magee K, Sevcik WW, Moher D, Rowe BH. Low molecular weight heparins versus unfractionated heparin for acute coronary syndromes. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2003, Issue 1. Art. No.: CD002132. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD002132.

2. Anderson JL AC, Antman EM, Bridges CR, Califf RM, Casey DE Jr, Chavey WE 2nd, Fesmire FM, Hochman JS, Levin TN, Lincoff AM, Peterson ED, Theroux P, Wenger NK, Wright RS, Smith SC Jr, Jacobs AK, Adams CD, Anderson JL, Antman EM, Halperin JL, Hunt SA, Krumholz HM, Kushner FG, Lytle BW, Nishimura R, Ornato JP, Page RL, Riegel B;. ACC/AHA 2007 Guidelines for the Management of Patients With Unstable Angina/Non-ST-Elevation Myocardial Infarction: A Report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines (Writing Committee to Revise the 2002 Guidelines for the Management of Patients With Unstable Angina/Non-ST-Elevation Myocardial Infarction) Developed in Collaboration with the American College of Emergency Physicians, the Society for Cardiovascular Angiography and Interventions, and the Society of Thoracic Surgeons Endorsed by the American Association of Cardiovascular and Pulmonary Rehabilitation and the Society for Academic Emergency Medicine. 10.1016/j.jacc.2007.02.013. J Am Coll Cardiol. August 14, 2007;50(7):e1-157.

Contributors

David Cundiff Kirk Magee Brian Rowe

WHAT'S NEW

Last assessed as up-to-date: 27 January 2008.

| Date | Event | Description |
|--------------|--------------------------------|---|
| 27 July 2010 | Feedback has been incorporated | Feedback and author response added. Due to unforeseen circumstances, the feed- back was not published when received in August 2008. The Cochrane Heart Group apologises for the delay |

HISTORY

Protocol first published: Issue 1, 2002

Review first published: Issue 2, 2008

| Date | Event | Description |
|------------------|--|---------------------------------|
| 8 September 2008 | Amended | Converted to new review format. |
| 28 January 2008 | New citation required and conclusions have changed | Substantive amendment |

CONTRIBUTIONS OF AUTHORS

Magee KD: Protocol development, grant writing, study selection and quality assessment, data entry and analysis, report writing and editing

entry and analysis, report writing and editing. Primary author.

Moher D: Protocol development, statistical methods support, and editing manuscript.

Rowe BH: Protocol development, grant writing, study selection and quality assessment, data entry and analysis, report writing and editing.

Campbell S: study selection and quality assessment.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

The authors who have been involved in this review have done so without any known conflicts of interest. They are not involved with the primary studies in this systematic review. The Department of Emergency Medicine, University of Alberta and Dr. Rowe have received funding from several makers of LMWH agents (e.g., Pharmacia, Aventis, Sanofi) for educational and research purposes; however, none of the staff are paid consultants of any pharmaceutical company that produces UFH or LMWH.

SOURCES OF SUPPORT

Internal sources

- Department of Emergency Medicine, Dalhousie University, Halifax, Canada.
- Department of Emergency Medicine, Faculty of Medicine and Dentistry, University of Alberta, Edmonton, Canada.
- Thomas Chalmers Centre for Systematic Reviews, University of Ottowa, Canada.

External sources

• Canada Institute of Health Research (CIHR), Ottawa, Ontario, Canada.

INDEX TERMS

Medical Subject Headings (MeSH)

Acute Coronary Syndrome [*drug therapy; mortality]; Angina, Unstable [drug therapy]; Anticoagulants [adverse effects; *therapeutic use]; Heparin [adverse effects; *therapeutic use]; Heparin, Low-Molecular-Weight [adverse effects; therapeutic use]; Myocardial Infarction [prevention & control]; Placebos [therapeutic use]; Randomized Controlled Trials as Topic

MeSH check words

Humans